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This book is a source of pride to Grupo Salinas, not only because it includes the works on display in the exhibit Guillermo Kahlo and Henry Greenwood Peabody: Two Visions of Monumental Architecture (held at the Antiguo Colegio de San Ildefonso in 2007), but because it confirms our commitment to safeguarding and bringing to a wider public the cultural heritage of Mexico.
For a hundred years now, Grupo Salinas has been engaged in the adventure of putting within reach of all Mexicans -and especially of the most disadvantaged among them- a variety of products, services, and ideas that serve to enhance their quality of life. Our efforts have been guided by an intense commitment to social, ecological, and cultural responsibility all over Mexico.
This exhibit of the magnificent photographs of Guillermo Kahlo and Henry Greenwood Peabody invites us to recall the splendor of our common past, the majesty of Mexican colonial architecture, the magnificence of the country’s civil and religious buildings, and the tranquil beauty of its landscapes. We can also appreciate the painstaking care lavished on his work by each of these photographers: the rigorous, structured vision of Kahlo, who was commissioned by President Porfirio Díaz to compile a strict and detailed inventory of colonial buildings; and the freer, venturesome vision of Peabody, skilled at capturing the everyday details of landscape and social life that surrounded the buildings. This book makes it possible to explore the Mexico of a bygone age in the company of two great artists.
By an exhaustive labor of cleaning, conservation, classification, and cataloguing, Fomento Cultural Grupo Salinas has succeeded in safeguarding the photographs of our architectural past that make up this collection. It is a legacy which should make us proud, but which also obliges us to reflect on the transformations undergone by our towns and cities and to ask ourselves whether we have done enough to preserve our colonial architecture, a fundamental part of our heritage.
By sharing in the enjoyment of this patrimony, we hope to contribute to its being preserved and appreciated by future generations.
Ricardo B. Salinas Pliego
PRESIDENTE DE GRUPO SALINAS
Under the title Guillermo Kahlo and Henry Greenwood Peabody: Two Visions of Monumental Architecture, we offer a panoramic view of Mexican colonial architecture as captured by two giants of the photographic lens. The more than 125 images gathered together in this book establish an unusual dialogue between two photographers: two ways of looking that contrast and complement one another; the astonishing results of two artists observing, in different ways, the same buildings; the possibility of recapturing, some one hundred years later, the vanished faces of our cities and towns.
The photographs of Kahlo and Peabody allow us to trace the evolution of the architectural landscape of Mexico, but they also reveal the styles, preferences, and aesthetic visions of the photographers. Two distinct but complementary gazes; testimonies to monumentality and beauty; the lineaments of a Mexico that no longer exists, of which at times barely traces remain, for some of these buildings have disappeared, or have been abandoned to their fate, or survive concealed among a tangle of modern constructions. Fomento Cultural Grupo Salinas has given us the opportunity to pause for a moment and admire this invaluable heritage.
It is interesting that two foreigners have had to look at our architecture in order for us also to appreciate it. The images of the German Kahlo and the American Peabody are an invitation to reappraise what we as Mexicans sometimes ignore or disdain. This was the case in the early years of the twentieth century, when Kahlo and Peabody traveled around the country -on foot, horseback, muleback, or wagon- to record our monuments. It remains the case today when we observe their beautiful photographs. Our work on behalf of the promotion and dissemination of Mexican culture has led us to preserve this beautiful collection of photographs. Our wish is for the architectural and photographic heritage of Mexico to be better known, and for our cultural heritage to be proudly preserved, so that we never forget what we have been and still are as a nation.
This effort to rescue these images from neglect, to look at them from the perspective of the present and to reflect on our past, is part of the program undertaken by Fomento Cultural Grupo Salinas to celebrate the year 2010, Centennial of the Mexican Revolution and Bicentennial of Independence.
Mercedes García Ocejo
DIRECTORA GENERAL
FOMENTO CULTURAL GRUPO SALINAS
Guillermo Tovar de Teresa
As a result of European neo-romantic experiences, in the late nineteenth century there was enormous interest in the United States in exploring the country’s links with the Hispanic. The Anglo-Saxon and Hispanic worlds had always seen the New World as a sort of apple of discord. Americans of Anglo-Saxon stock considered themselves the bearers of a manifest destiny which made their nation the guardian of an entire continent. In the course of the nineteenth century, the United States gradually imposed itself on the rest of the Americas, and the effects of that vision were felt sooner in Mexico than in any other country in the hemisphere.
First there was the Texas War of 1835, and then the invasion that ended in the seizure of half of Mexico’s territory between 1846 and 1847. Both conflicts led the Americans to feel they had become the new conquistadors of the region, in emulation of Hernán Cortés and other sixteenth-century warriors. In The Conquest of Mexico (1843), William Prescott depicted Cortés as a “Latin lover,” among other things. Prescott generated great interest in things Hispanic in a certain cultural milieu of the Bostonian elite. One member of this group was the wife of a Spanish ambassador, Madame Calderón de la Barca, who had accompanied her husband during his Mexican assignment in the 1840s and turned out to be a remarkable correspondent. Her letters, with their descriptions of people, everyday life, and local color, are a wonderful testimony to Mexican romanticism. Two other figures stand out in this period: a millionaire and a reporter.
At the urging of Edwin Barber, advisor to the principal collectors of Mexican majolica (the “Talavera” ceramics of Puebla) in New York, Philadelphia, and Boston, the millionaire collector and patron of the arts Isabel (Bella) Gardiner acquired a part of the tiled wall of the cloister of an old convento in Puebla. The reporter was Sylvester Baxter, author of several books on the history of the American Southwest and of a monumental monograph consisting of one volume of text and nine more of photographs (taken by Henry Greenwood Peabody), published in 1901 under the title Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico. This important work revealed the riches of Spain’s heritage in Mexico and astonished cultured Americans of the time. So great was the impact of the book that the reappraisal of colonial architecture which took place in twentieth-century Mexico in fact proceeded from the United States. Baxter’s work appeared just three years after the U.S. invasion of Cuba and the Philippines, the final remnants of the Spanish empire. These events awakened an enthusiasm for everything Hispanic in the United States, leading to the establishment of the Hispanic Society of New York and creating an atmosphere that culminated in the Californian architecture still fashionable into the 1920s, which spurred many American millionaires to erect veritable palaces in the Hispanic style.
The very opposite was occurring at the time in Mexico, where culture was synonymous with cosmopolitanism and Europeanization. The monuments that Sylvester Baxter so admired were seen in Mexico as the decaying vestiges of a vanished world, the world of New Spain which, according to liberal principles, would have to disappear in order to give way to a modern, European-style country. Very few people in Mexico appreciated the art of the colonial period in the second half of the nineteenth century. Among those who did were the jurist José Bernardo Couto, the Catalan painter Pelegrín Clavé, the poet Joaquín Pesado, and the man of letters Manuel Gustavo Revilla, all of whom were familiar with the cultural affairs of the sixteenth, seventeenth, and eighteenth centuries. The ministers of Porfirio Díaz’s government and the great Mexican families of the time, however, deplored anything “colonial,” with the exception of the Gargollos, the De la Arenas, the Mirandas, and a few others. The official circles of the time dreamed of grand constructions and palaces in the French or Venetian style, while people with money or social status filled their homes with European trinkets.
The appearance of Baxter’s work in Mexico had an important impact on Porfirio Díaz, his ministers, and Mexican high society. How was it possible that the reappraisal of Mexico’s Spanish heritage should come from Boston? The book made people appreciate the importance of what had been ignored or even belittled. From the Ministry of Finance, José Yves Limantour proposed to Porfirio Díaz that a photographic inventory be made of that enormous monumental architectural heritage. Guillermo Kahlo, a German photographer resident in Mexico, was commissioned to photograph the country’s most important churches, which thereafter began to be considered a national treasure. For years, Kahlo undertook the Herculean task of traveling all over the country, in conditions that read like a novel. Unfortunately, he never saw his magnum opus published with the same quality as Baxter’s.
A decade and a half passed before Alberto J. Pani, the Minister of Finance in the Obregón administration, gathered a part of those materials in six volumes. They began to be published in 1924, accompanied by texts by Gerardo Murillo (“Dr. Atl”), Manuel Toussaint, and José R. Benítez. Today, the complete collection of photographs, including the glass plate negatives, is stored in the Fototeca Nacional (Mexico’s national photography archives) of the National Institute of Anthropology and History.
Several series of these photographs circulated among the friends of Dr. Atl, Toussaint, and Benítez. One of them is the collection presented here. In 1934, a translation of Baxter’s work was published in Mexico, and it has been reprinted several times. A large part of Kahlo’s work, however, remains unpublished. Fomento Cultural Grupo Salinas and the Fototeca Nacional are committed to eventually publishing this monumental collection of invaluable photographic material in its entirety.
These images bear witness to a Mexico we have inherited but have been unable to preserve, materially or spiritually. Most of the Mexican cities photographed by Peabody and Kahlo have become centers of urban and architectural chaos that devour these vestiges or rob them of atmosphere and context. Since present-day Mexicans cannot fully appreciate this heritage, damaged or lost by the work of destruction of the twentieth century, these photographs preserve the traces of a vanished grandeur. It is to be hoped that they will offer a collective vision capable of modifying the fate of Mexico’s genuine physiognomy, everywhere threatened and in places already destroyed.
P | Former Jesuit College of San Martín and San Francisco Javier.
Tepotzotlán, Estado de México, 1898
The Work of Peabody and Baxter in Mexico
Antonio Saborit
“One seldom has to make a search for the picturesque in Mexico. It presents itself on every hand,” wrote Sylvester Baxter in an article about Mexico published in the February 1885 issue of The Atlantic Monthly.1
Baxter was thirty-five years old at the time and possessed by the imperious desire to leave the Bostonian North and explore the southwestern United States, before making a final push into Mexico. His intentions can be inferred from the article just quoted -about a very pleasant stay in the Valley of Cuautla- and by other clues in his account of a visit to the Bajío. In this last, Baxter left a brief comment on Mexican architecture, a subject to which he would return when he was nearly fifty:
Nearly all Mexican towns, as far as I have seen them, have features which give them distinct individuality. These proceed from their great diversity in site and climate, from their local building-materials and architectural forms, and from the customs of their inhabitants. For many generations they have been left to their own resources, and this isolation has encouraged these variations. How unlike the growth of the smart towns of our young West, which appear all to have been cast in the same mould, or rather, cut out by the same jig-saw!
There is notable architecture almost everywhere in Mexico. Some of the humblest villages are ennobled by churches whose domes and towers would give them a proud distinction in the greatest cities of our commonplace land. The architectural inspirations of Mexico come from Spain; the art has been transplanted, not developed here. Therefore it shows characteristics of the styles which mark Spanish architectural history. Gothic, however, is sparsely represented, and its influence is seldom traced, except in the light, aerial striving of some purely Renaissance towers. The Romanesque and Moorish are found underlying the Renaissance, which dominated Spanish architectural thought at the time of the Conquest. The Romanesque influence is manifest almost everywhere in Mexico, and sometimes with striking nobility in almost pure examples of the style. There is also much extremely florid and undignified rococo. Fortunately, this often appears subject to Moorish influence, and in such cases its usual incoherence gives way to a piquant grace.2
From the fragments of that vision, in conjunction with other elements, Baxter constructed one of his most ambitious works and surely his most outstanding, Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico: an exceptional book, from the moment it came off the press in 1901, for any number of reasons. Not only because it was the most extensive study dedicated up to that time to the development of Mexican colonial architecture, but also owing to its dimensions and limited print run: 125 sets, each of which comprised a thick volume containing Baxter’s text and the plans of Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue, plus nine complementary portfolios containing 150 photographs by Henry Greenwood Peabody, with Baxter’s commentaries on the back of them.
Sylvester Baxter was born in 1850 on the outskirts of Boston, the city of his life and the scene of his first studies. Walt Whitman called it the “New England metropolis.”
Baxter’s literary inclinations, influenced by the tales of urban mysteries drawn from Eugène Sue in authors such as George Lippard and George Thompson, led him to take his first steps as a suburban or cub reporter in the pages of the Advertiser in the early 1870s. The newspaper, property of the Hale family, employed its writers as freelance pieceworkers who were to listen for the city’s bells, the signal of catastrophes and other bad news, that is, of stories tinged with the horrors of crime and the secrets of the underworld.3 Life in Boston, which its inhabitants also called the modern Athens, was becoming more secular in its public aspects, as the early technological disorder of the mid-nineteenth century and the triumph of coal, iron, and the railway during the Civil War imposed their changes on the great cities of the northern United States.4 A process of secularization would soon make Boston the least puritanical city in the country.
Journalism obliged Baxter to find a proper style for his articles, and to scrape out a living as a freelance, sharing board and lodgings with Edgar Page Mitchell, a fellow cub reporter.5 But by frequenting the offices of the Advertiser, Baxter also became familiar with and adopted Edward Everett Hale’s creed of study, preparation, and constant self-improvement. Hale had made it his purpose in life to improve the existing social order and to promote a finer public spirit in Boston. Working at the Advertiser -or Daily, as it was also known- so enhanced Baxter’s learning that in 1875 he set out for Germany to study at the University of Leipzig. German philosophy and culture enjoyed high esteem in the Anglo-Saxon world and many young people were encouraged to cross the Atlantic by the promise of a solider educational system than could be found in their own country, as well as an ambience more favorable to their individual development. Such was the case, for example, of Alfred Stieglitz, who was Baxter’s junior by some years.
During his three years in Leipzig, Baxter acquired a taste for the leisurely exploration of other European cities, from where he sent occasional articles to D. A. Goddard, the editor in chief of the Advertiser, and gained direct experience of German opera and concert music. In fact, on his return to Boston, he translated Franz von Suppe’s comic opera Fatinitza, in collaboration with Theodore T. Barker.6 But Europe gave him more than a passion for music; he seems to have become more clearly aware of certain shadowy truths: first, the certainty of forming part of modern civilization; then also, the duty to apply in his native country what he had learned about the conservation and improvement of the quality of life; and finally a strong sense of belonging to his own country. Indeed, the name Baxter can be traced back to the first migrations to Massachusetts at the end of the seventeenth century.
When he retuned from Germany, Baxter joined the team of the Boston Herald and was fortunate enough to find Hale transformed into a prominent champion of Harvard culture and an important defender of Boston’s commercial greatness and its political traditions. Hale was another direct descendant of the first Englishmen to arrive in the region. He had worked in his early years as a reader of books and documents for William H. Prescott, later entering Harvard to study formally to become a pastor and do something for the region’s public life. In his sixties he became interested again in the conquest of Mexico and the history of New Spain and the south-western United States, that is, Arizona and New Mexico. Baxter also made the acquaintance of Walt Whitman in April 1881, when the editors of the Boston Herald asked him to write a personal note about the poet, in Boston to pay tribute to the memory of Abraham Lincoln (a traveling homage which Whitman performed yearly for the assassinated President). This assignment, as Baxter wrote years later, should by rights have gone to another Boston Herald writer, a friend and admirer of Whitman by the name of Frederick Russell Guernsey, but he was in Mexico City at the time, engaged in journalism, business, and perhaps the preparation of a manual for English-speaking travelers: A-B-C Spanish-English Phrase Book for American Travellers in Mexico, and All Spanish-speaking Countries. Baxter already knew Whitman as a great poet and chronicler, but for ten years following their meeting, the role of master became that of good friend in the city of Camden.7
For Baxter and his set, Boston was essentially a tissue of journalistic and literary affiliations. Apart from the salon of Mrs. Louise Chandler Moulton and the gatherings in the library of Mrs. Fields in her Charles Street house, his world was essentially masculine and urban. For example: walks under the elms of Tremont and Beacon with the poet and chronicler John T. Trowbridge; conversations with William Morton Fullerton, the literary editor of the Advertiser; gatherings in the studio of the sculptor Truman H. Bartlett, at the end of the quay occupied by the Boston Terra-Cotta Company on Federal Street; or at the home of Quincy A. Shaw in Jamaica Plain, with its collection of paintings by J. F. Millet; the studio of the painter Willard Metcalf; the publishing house of James R. Osgood & Company; gatherings with John Boyle O’Reilly and the other writers and artists who assembled at the Papyrus Club, such as the dramatist and prolific “poet of the sierras” Joaquin Miller, the Assyrian Francis H. Underwood, the novelist and future editor of the Courier, Arlo Bates, the architect Frank Hill Smith, and Fred Guernsey himself; as well as other favorite haunts such as the City Point pier, the Globe Theatre, the Bullfinch Hotel, and Scollay Place.8
William H. Prescott and his generation lived in a Boston that was just beginning to be accessible by rail, and that only from a few northern cities. “Many thanks for the friendly invitation to occupy the rooms of the Mexican palace in which you now live,” wrote Prescott to his friend Ángel Calderón de la Barca on 25 June 1840. “If I were able to arrive there on the marvelous horse of the Thousand and One Nights or if a magic carpet were to transport me immediately to the highlands, I should be at the door of your house in twenty hours. But unfortunately the age of miracles has passed, except in what concerns steamboats and railroads, and it would be quite difficult, I imagine, to lay a railway down on the slopes the highlands.”9 Forty years after this letter, the development of the railroads and of Boston as a financial capital had made it possible to travel from the city of Worcester to the Mexican border, leading Edward Everett Hale to expound publicly on the effective incorporation of the southwestern territories of the United States into the nation’s destiny.
Hale’s perorations inspired Baxter to form his own literary agenda, and in 1881-1882 he decided to use the railroad to explore the landscapes of Kansas, New Mexico, Arizona, and the northern Mexican states of Chihuahua and Sonora.
On the first of those journeys, made in the spring of 1881, Baxter met the explorer Frank Hamilton Cushing in Fort Wingate. What made him go South? Certainly Hale’s words in part, but he may have also been influenced by the desire to go beyond the limits reached by Trowbridge in a book published the year following the end of the Civil War, The South: A Tour of Its Battlefields and Ruined Cities. The fact is that when Cushing arrived in Boston in 1882, accompanied by the Zuñi chiefs, Baxter became one of the principal promoters of research into the indigenous communities of the Southwest. His articles for the Boston Herald not only earned the praise of people like Hale: they also prompted Mrs. Mary Hemenway to finance the Southwestern Archaeological Expedition, led by Cushing.
After Cushing’s legendary visit to Boston, Baxter traveled to Mexico City, where he took charge of the editing of a bilingual weekly, Mexican Financier, and earned his living as a correspondent of the Boston Herald and the New York Sun. Baxter is supposed to have been a determined promoter of improvements in the city’s municipal services and investment in railroads. This experience not only generated Baxter’s two articles for The Atlantic Monthly quoted at the beginning of this essay but also his great admiration for the country’s public plazas. He would later say about those plazas:
In a scheme of public pleasure-grounds the minor open spaces of a city are indispensable. They provide agreeable contrast with their urban surroundings, refreshing the eye with the verdure of grass and trees, and delighting it with the beauty of flowering plants. They afford breathing-space for dense populations, refuge from the heat and vexation of crowded tenements, places for social intercourse in the open air, and playgrounds for the young.
The aspect of social intercourse is one of the most important. Whoever has spent any time in a Mexican city must have appreciated the notable factor in the life of the people played by the public plaza, the zócalo, the paseo, the alameda. The plaza, with its central garden and its bands playing through the warm evenings, is a sort of great free public club-room. It is this function of a public outdoor club-room which should be particularly borne in mind in the designing of the minor open spaces of a city.10
In 1884, in the midst of the political crisis which marked the end of the fouryear term of President Manuel González, Baxter returned to Boston and founded a publication dedicated to cycling and other outdoor activities, Outing Magazine. At the end of 1886, he returned to the Herald and was secretary and treasurer of the Southwestern Archaeological Expedition, a post he held until the first weeks of 1889. In the first half of 1886, he visited the expedition’s camps and in the fall attended the International Congress of Americanists in Germany to report on its progress. Later he wrote a series of articles entitled “Archaeological Campaign in Arizona” and a pamphlet, The Old New World: An Account of the Explorations of the Hemenway Southwestern Archaeological Expedition in 1887-88, to publicize Cushing’s activities.
The visit to Germany brought Baxter’s thoughts back to the themes of utopian reform and municipal administration, and on his return to the United States he was one of the most enthusiastic readers of Edward Bellamy’s Looking Backward: 2000-1887. Although for Bellamy the work was no more than a “mere literary fantasy,” it became an important political pamphlet in which, for the first time, someone seriously reflected on the logical conclusion of the monopolistic processes and mechanistic organization that was taking place in the industrialized North of the United States. From then on, Baxter’s public career, “centered on the metropolitan parks movement, was essentially an attempt to put into practice the democratic visions of Whitman and Bellamy’s technological utopia, based on a strong faith in the power of communication and transportation to centralize, coordinate, and improve urban life.” He dedicated himself to promoting the civic improvement and development of Boston, formulating the concept of a Greater Boston coordinated by a network of transportation routes and roads. With Frederick Law Olmsted, Olmsted Associates, and Charles Eliot, Jr., he worked on the development of Boston Common and a system of urban parks all over the metropolitan area. He espoused the embellishment of train stations, private ownership of the water supply, the placement of civic art in the public plazas of New England’s towns and villages, and the conservation of historic monuments.
In 1893, at the age of forty-three, Baxter married the teacher Lucia Millet, aged forty-one, sister to the painter and critic Francis Millet, the author of a Housekeepers’ Handy Book, and a very active member of various women’s associations. It was widely seen as a marriage of convenience, intended to keep up their public personae. Indeed, from that moment not only did Baxter’s prestige as a journalist, poet, and promoter of the metropolitan parks movement increase, but he also became a yachting enthusiast.
In 1899 Sylvester Baxter returned to Mexico, and turned fifty there. This time his idea was not to establish himself in a fixed point, as he had done a decade earlier, but rather to wander around the country -as far as possible by means of the new rail network- and to familiarize himself with its principal cities. He planned to make a first inventory of the country’s rich legacy of Spanish architecture, much of which either had already disappeared or was about to. From that expedition, as mentioned above, came his book Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico, which was accompanied by Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue’s plans and the nine portfolios of 150 photographs taken by Henry Greenwood Peabody. As far as is known, this was the only project on which they all three collaborated.
Five years younger than Baxter and originally from Missouri, Peabody was a graduate of Dartmouth College. By the mid-1880s he had gained some prestige as a photographer, becoming the official artist of the Boston and Maine Railroad Company.11 Working as a freelance, he sold many of his photographs to a firm established in Boston, the Soule Photograph Company. Apart from this work, which mainly consisted of a great variety of nature scenes, Peabody also worked on some themes related to Baxter’s interests. Such was the case, for example, of the plates he made in the 1880s, which were gathered into albums such as the Photograph Album of Southwestern Canyonlands and Indian Communities, prepared in collaboration with Frederick Hamer Maude, George Wharton James, and William Henry Jackson, or his Western Female Seminary, Oxford, Ohio: A Collection of Twelve Views. He also did an ambitious series called Representative American Yachts in the 1890s and two other marine albums containing a total of 160 photographs: Ships of the U. S. Navy, 1890-98 and Representative American War Ships and Yachts: A Collection of One Hundred and Twenty-two Views, with descriptive notes by George A. Stewart.12
Working for Baxter on the registry of Spanish religious architecture in Mexico began to separate Peabody from his contemporaries and fellow photographers such as Nathaniel L. Stebbins, Baldwin Coolidge, and Emma L. Coleman. He also faced the challenge of a task in some way distant from the medium of photography: the recording of the built heritage of a culture quite different from his own.
The question of a “national heritage,” with particular reference to the survival and conservation of religious and historic ruins and documents, occupied the time and imagination of very different people all over the Western world throughout the nineteenth century. Baxter’s study of Spanish colonial architecture in Mexico was doubtless in the line of the more popular books of the English writer Julia Byrne (1819-1894): A Glance Behind the Grilles of Religious Houses in France, and its immediate sequel, Flemish Interiors, published in 1855 and 1856 respectively. The quality of these two works gained her the esteem of Monsieur Labat, a member of the Société Royale des Antiquaires and archivist of the Préfecture de Police, who helped her to find her way through the labyrinth of the French historic archives for her work Realities of Paris Life.13 Her maiden name was Julia Clara Busk, but she became known by the surname of her husband, William Pitt Byrne, the proprietor of The Morning Post. That is just one thing she had in common with another very popular writer, Fanny Erskine Inglis (1804-1882), also better known by the surname of her husband, Ángel Calderón de la Barca. They also shared a way of looking at things, a clear style, a taste for travel as a detonator of their writings, and a certain fondness for things Spanish, but above all they both shared this common trait of the times: a concern for the destruction of “national heritage.”
This explains the interest with which Julia Byrne followed from London the inexorable advance of Bismarck’s troops on Paris in September 1870, after the capture of Napoleon III and Maréchal MacMahon. These events, which to the French meant the end of the Second Empire and the beginning of a provisional and erratic Government of National Defense, were something else to her, as she read in London everything she could lay her hands on about the siege of Paris, the rain of twelve thousand Prussian mortars which, from January 5 to 28, 1871, “fell on the city night after night, and the wave of violence that unfolded for ten weeks after the rising of the Commune on March 18.” For her, it was cause for alarm:
At this moment when the demon of destruction that has been unleashed in Paris spares neither life nor property, and when the fury of the people, venting itself with special satisfaction on any object that has anything to do with either authority or tradition, has gone to the extreme of setting fire to the Palais de Justice, among other time-honored monuments, it was natural for us to ask ourselves with consternation: could this universal cataclysm have been the fate of the Archives of Paris? And what might have happened to the venerable archivist, the faithful guardian and jealous protector of those unique, invaluable treasures, the living glossary of those suggestive and authentic documents, the clever interpreter of their often mysterious meanings?
In the view of Byrne, a widow since 1861, “there is more than mere sentimentality in the enthusiasm that inspires us on seeing with our own eyes and holding in our hands the genuine documents from which all history has come, the raw material of the web of fact and fiction, poetry and prose, novel and history, the terse, sincere, and simple affirmations so distorted by the interest, partisanship, or prejudices of those by whose hands they have reached us, so that when we see them in their virginal purity, it is difficult to believe they have any relation with the inflamed and exaggerated, crude and passionate forms in which we were taught to know them.” For her, the Commune caused greater damage to the French cultural patrimony than Bismarck’s siege, and to prove it she compared the notes she had made in her Paris diary in 1859 with the inventory of documents that survived the Communards’ sack of the Préfecture de Police. From the list she extracted at least the following dossiers on the first years of the French Revolution: a detailed register of the executions that the Septembristes carried out by popular demand; the papers pertaining to the massacre of the ninety-two priests who lived in the Séminaire de Saint-Fermin, and in particular a receipt for the forty-eight pounds sterling that Gilbert Petit received in recognition of the fact that the expédition of those priests took him two days; the documents collected from Robespierre’s rooms after his execution; and numerous lettres de cachet of prisoners. “It is a fact worthy of notice that, notwithstanding the Revolutions that have revealed all the most hidden nooks and crannies of Paris, notwithstanding the sack of public buildings and the great interest of many people in the search for, appropriation, and destruction of such documents, never, not even once, was a single document removed from this collection. Each new archivist has been strictly and diplomatically loyal to the traditions of his predecessors.”
An interest similar to Julia Byrne’s encouraged Sylvester Baxter to undertake Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico, plans and photographs included, for those monuments were threatened, in his view, by a force as destructive as war itself: oblivion. Fanny Calderón de la Barca insinuated something very similar to William H. Prescott: “There is something that makes the journey here a very triste plaisir, and it is that everything is falling down,” she wrote to him on Friday, 5 June 1840. “The only proof the Mexicans have given of their Independence is the neglect in which they have left all the beautiful constructions of the Spaniards, that they have converted viceregal palaces into barns or barracks, that they fell trees, that they have left the roads to their fate, and that they have let the best farmland in the world go to waste.” She insisted on the theme in her book Life in Mexico, out of the anonymity with which she had temporarily shrouded herself.14
Baxter commended to Henry Greenwood Peabody rather more than a simple photographic record of dozens of churches and other places of Catholic worship: he put in the hands of his art and experience an earnest and urgent plea for the Spanish-Colonial -as he called them- architectural remains, knowing that sooner or later his conservationist discourse would face a medium and a time virtually indifferent to the artistic value of such constructions, if not actually adverse to the mere idea of reflecting on the relevance of their preservation. Baxter was acquainted with the tools of his adversary: the pickax, wielded by the forces of the century of progress, in the capital city; and forgetfulness, both in the larger cities and in the provincial towns and villages. Baxter, however, was not the only one who thought of the future of man’s works: in the dynamic minorities of Mexico and particularly among their more enlightened members, the bulldozing assault of capital and the State itself on a unique, common legacy was creating a disquiet and unease similar to Baxter’s, a topic of conversation in the study and in the street, in newspaper offices and literary circles, in the classroom and the cantina. Thus, for example, before the half-demolished San Andrés Hospital -located along one of the axes President Porfirio Díaz had chosen in the 1890s for the construction of his new seats of power, on the ground where the palatial Ministry of Communications (now the National Art Museum) would later be erected- the young poet and essayist José Juan Tablada was inspired to write in his journal a dialogue between two old men which started thus:
First the theater… then the hospital of the Brothers of the Third Order… now San Andrés… What a pity!… Look at those walls!… Made to resist earthquakes; now that was building… And in place of that, these railings and grilles, and elevators instead of staircases… and… tell me, what will they do with the portraits of Don Juan Antonio de Velázquez and Father Jáuregui and of the Field-Marshal Don José de la Puente, he who…?15
Thus, perhaps unwittingly, Peabody took his photographs through the blue filter of Modernism, a delicate membrane whose discreet novelty has largely dissipated over the course of a century and is now sometimes imperceptible to the eye. Peabody’s perspective was in a way the same as that of Baxter, who set out the exhausting itinerary for the photographer laden with his fragile and burdensome contraptions. But it was Peabody’s art that succeeded in fixing, with the ideal faithfulness of an anthropologist, everything that Baxter pointed out to him: façades, patios, churchyards, domes, and steeples.
Peabody’s virtuous eye proceeded serenely and skillfully to include all the elements he could appreciate under the cover of their momentary, artificial night, whether in the interior of a church or on the exterior of any structure bearing the ancient seal of Spain, and he never succumbed to the temptation or to the unnecessary prudence of isolating or even beautifying a composition, for the point was to document the ravages of abandonment wrought on the robust, though often wounded, integrity of the original construction. And although, up to that time, Peabody’s taste and passion had been concentrated on the work of photographing varied natural landscapes, during this Mexican commission he taught himself to discover the unstable textures of urban elements and to distinguish in them the unhearing dialogue between the old and the new. Peabody’s truthful vision therefore went unnoticed by many of his contemporaries -quite apart from the fact that the very design chosen by Baxter for Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico made it more difficult for them to be seen-, though it became a model and a source of borrowings for later photographers like José María Lupercio and Manuel Ramos.
Peabody’s Mexican adventure did not interrupt his other photographic activities, particularly his interest in administering an antidote to the poisons of industrial society by the celebration of the broad, open spaces, not merely uninhabited but rather still virgin, in the western heartland of the United States. The work he did for Baxter also aroused the interest of a firm entering the brand-new postcard business, the Detroit Publishing Company. During this time, he published volumes such as Glimpses of the Grand Canyon of Arizona, Canadian Views, Havasupai and Pueblo Portraits and Yosemite National Park, California.16
Once he had finished his work for Baxter, Peabody set up house in Pasadena, then a new town on the outskirts of Los Angeles, California. His house on East Orange Grove Boulevard was more than just a point of departure for various photographic expeditions in search of natural beauties in the new national parks or the singular monuments of California and New Mexico. It was also where he installed his own business, dedicated at first to the exhibition, distribution, and sale of his own albums, and then later expanded to include the sale of photographic equipment. Thus, Peabody published from his home such titles as Tour of the White Mountains: An Illustrated Lecture and Seashore of New England -two lectures that he had given in August and September of 1898- and portfolios of his own, such as Round About Yosemite Walls…, The Grand Canyon of Arizona: An Illustrated Lecture, Colonial and Revolutionary Landmarks of Boston, The Yellowstone National Park, Grand Canyon National Park, Zion National Park, and Bryce Canyon National Park: An Illustrated Lecture.17 It is clear how his art transformed him into a prospector, following in the footsteps of other nature-worshiping artists like Henry David Thoreau and John Marin, intent on saving the world. After all, photographers such as Leander Weed, Eadweard Muybridge, and Carleton Watkins had also turned briefly to nature as a theme.18
Mexico reappeared in Peabody’s work in two very different portfolios: In the Footsteps of Cortes and Mexican Scenery and Architecture, published in 1918 and 1932 respectively.19 The origin of both works can be traced not so much to the marvels of nature as to the heart of the city of Boston, occupied, for our purposes, by two quite distinct temperaments: Prescott and Baxter. We cannot know what moved Peabody to prepare them, but I very much doubt if he could have known how much care Prescott put into reconstructing the advance of Hernán Cortés in The Conquest of Mexico, and with Baxter having died in 1927, Peabody’s images of the architecture and landscapes of Mexico had nothing to do with the work that joined their names in 1900. Around the time Peabody brought out Mexican Scenery and Architecture, realizing how seldom anyone would get to see the photographs that he taken to accompany Baxter’s study, the historian Manuel Toussaint, the architect Federico E. Mariscal, and the poet León Felipe were working in Mexico City on the translation of Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico,20 willing perhaps to be satisfied if the publisher would keep his word and print the text at least.
Henry Greenwood Peabody lived long enough to commemorate the one-hundredth anniversary of the birth of Sylvester Baxter. He died the following year, in 1951, at the age of 96, as forgotten as the trunks of stories he kept in his house in Pasadena.
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The Monumental Vision
Rosa Casanova
In certain circles the name Kahlo evokes not primarily Frida but her father. While these circles may be limited to connoisseurs of Mexican photography and specialists in the country’s architectural heritage, the images of churches and buildings created by Guillermo Kahlo have been reproduced in countless publications since the beginning of the twentieth century. In this sense, his photographs are known to a larger public, whose perception of Mexican colonial architecture is imaginatively associated with the German artist’s account of it, even though his name may be unknown. A curious phenomenon, but not unusual in the world of photography.
Who, then, was Guillermo Kahlo? Since we lack precise information as to how he organized his activities, and especially how he undertook the commission that has given him a lasting name in Mexican photography -the record of governmentowned church buildings-, his work remains wrapped in obscurity. Thanks to books written about his more famous daughter, we now possess a core of biographical information that must be developed by further research. The German scholars Gaby Franger and Rainer Huhle, for example, have established that the photographer was born Carl Wilhelm Kahlo Kaufmann on 26 October 1871 -not 1872- in the town of Pforzheim, in what is now the German Land of Baden-Württemberg.1 His father was a merchant in jewelry who must have belonged to the middle class that had prospered under the German empire consolidated by Otto von Bismarck. He is said to have studied in Nuremberg, but since no diploma has surfaced, it is not certain how much schooling he received. His skills suggest he attended one of the technical schools that were becoming ever more common at the time. A number of factors seem to have motivated his emigration to Mexico: the epileptic fits which would accompany him through his life, an adventurous spirit, and the desire for a new life. He raised sufficient money to pay his passage to Mexico, following in the footsteps of many Germans dazzled by Humboldt’s vision of the natural riches of America and the possibilities offered by the continent.
In May 1890 Wilhelm set out from Hamburg and landed at Veracruz without speaking a word of Spanish; he would soon become Guillermo.2 His first contacts were with the German community in the capital city. He found work in 1891 as an accountant in the glassware establishment of the Loeb brothers, which also specialized, according to the city’s 1891 telephone directory, in “earthenware, porcelain, fine cutlery, silverware, lamps, and chandeliers.”3 It was an ideal employment, suggests Juan Coronel Rivera, because Kahlo “had only to keep the accounting books in order, and he did not need to master Spanish for that.”4 Owing to his friendship with Diener, he was later employed at La Perla, one of the jewelry stores patronized by the Mexican upper class, whose owners had close connections to Mexican political circles.5 Kahlo drew up the accounts of the new establishment in 1903, and it was there that he met Matilde Calderón, who would become his second wife.
By that time Kahlo was an established member of the city’s German “colony,” as attested by the portrait taken of him on 7 November 1892 by Nicolás Winther, the director of the nearby Wolfenstein studio, which was favored by the German immigrants.6 Small as it was, the German community played an important role in the economic life of Mexico City, especially in the commercial sector. In 1903, for example, the birthday of Kaiser Wilhelm II was celebrated at the Hipódromo racetrack, with President Porfirio Díaz in attendance. An image of the ceremony, preserved in the Casasola archive, shows the elderly dictator next to a young woman holding a camera, possibly the Baroness Wangenheim, the ambassador’s wife. Guillermo Kahlo would have taken part occasionally in the busy social activities of the German community, occupied as he was in integrating himself into the Mexican world of the family he had formed.
In August 1893 Kahlo had married María Cárdena Espino, a “resident of Tacubaya” according to their marriage certificate. By that time he spoke Spanish, though he seems to have retained a German accent all his life. María died in 1897, leaving him with two daughters. Kahlo remarried almost immediately, and with Matilde, daughter of the photographer Antonio Calderón, he would have four more daughters, including Frida.7 He prospered as a photographer and in 1904 acquired his own house in Coyoacán, a suburb of Mexico City to which he had moved six years earlier. There he would remain until he died, almost forgotten, in 1941. He spent his final years painting watercolors and making copies in oil of lithographs and engravings, far removed from his masterly photographs.
Guillermo Kahlo’s connection with jewelry in the early years of his life would seem to be of more than simply anecdotal interest. The transparency and concentrated luminosity of gems, their sparkle and the perfection of their polished facets and edges, reveal much about the way Kahlo constructed his images.
The first photograph that can be attributed to Guillermo Kahlo is signed and dated 3 February 1899, and bears the address Juan Carbonero (now 2 de Abril) no. 4.8 Everything suggests that this neighborhood, a few blocks from the Alameda, was a working-class one. On the small square there were some public baths that must have been patronized by local workers, with a the sign that read: “Large, comfortable bathtubs of tin-plated copper, plenty of water, clothing and all necessary utensils, at the moderate price of a real and a half every working day.”9 The fact that portraits -generally executed in the client’s home or office- were the least of Kahlo’s interests explains the location of his studio somewhat removed from the elegant streets of the colonial center, in a zone where rents must have been lower.
It was around this time that Kahlo began to contribute photographs, to El Mundo Ilustrado, of the new neighborhoods that were springing up around Mexico City. Shortly thereafter he was hired by the Casa Boker to record the construction of its new building, which can still be admired at the corner of 16 de Septiembre and Isabel la Católica. Since the 1870s the practice had developed of recording the process of construction of large buildings and works of civil engineering, photographs of which were gathered into albums sponsored by the company or institution responsible for the work. These albums might be presented as gifts to prominent officials or visiting dignitaries. Kahlo’s work, which was published under the title Roberto Boker y Cía. Álbum “Evolución de obra,” consisted of eighty-four photographs, each one mounted on a piece of cardboard bearing the plate number, a date in 1899, and in some cases the location of the shot. This album is the first example of how Kahlo worked: a methodical registry which attests to his enthusiasm for architectural spaces almost completely devoid of any human elements, whose presence is accidental. This is the style he would develop in ever purer form over time.
A note in El Fotógrafo Mexicano in September 1899 introduced Guillermo Kahlo to the public for the first time. The occasion was the publication of a “View in Chapultepec Park,” accompanied by the mention that the image was “taken with an Objective Eclipse and a Speed plate,” in 8-x-10-inch format:
Not so long ago Mr. Kahlo was just another of so many amateur photographers in the capital, employed at one of its leading retail houses. Having developing a fondness for the art of photography, he resigned his position and devoted himself exclusively to it… We can attest to his rapid progress, and cannot but admire and praise his great steps forward. Today the views and portraits of Mr. Kahlo are admired by all lovers of the art, for in them is revealed the soul of an artist and an exquisite aesthetic taste.10
Several pieces of information can be drawn from this text, starting with the publication in which it appeared. José Antonio Rodríguez points out that this magazine, first published by the American Photo Supply Co. in July 1899 to cover technical innovations in the field, was a consequence of the recent “boom” in photography.11 The fact that a company dealing in equipment and materials for both amateur and professional photographers would have the vision to found a specialized publication (even if its obviously promotional purposes are taken into account) shows that photography was quite a business at the time. More importantly, the note reveals that Kahlo had formed part of the growing circle of aficionados in Mexico City before choosing to abandon a secure career and set out on the hazardous -and highly competitive- path of art. His progress, however, was rapid: in less than ten years he went from being an unemployed immigrant to an accredited commercial photographer.
The brief text also reveals that at the time Kahlo was using 8-x-10-inch plates, smaller and easier to handle than those in common use previously. The investment in equipment must have been considerable, but even more difficult to explain is his training. There were various manuals in existence which might have served as guides, but the fact that he had learned how to handle a large-format camera, as well as the quality of the prints he achieved, suggests instruction by some more experienced photographer and perhaps, as mentioned above, even previous technical training.12
The popular magazines illustrated with lithographs and rotogravures that circulated in Mexico City in the period required images of different kinds to fill their pages: portraits of distinguished persons in the political, cultural, and social life of the capital; views of balls and receptions; panoramic vistas of cities with their horizons modified by new constructions and neighborhoods; monuments; and images to accompany reports of important events. The pages of the illustrated magazines were also full of scenes of local color, with depictions of the small tradesmen and other characters to be seen on the streets of Mexico City, rendered in varying ways: with an emphasis on the picturesque, or as representative of the various activities that made up the everyday life of the city, or on the contrary as “strange shadowy beings in whose souls there has penetrated barely a glimpse of that forgotten and sovereign light: the alphabet,” as Carlos Toro wrote in El Mundo Ilustrado13. Popular as these subjects were -and cultivated as a result by almost all photographers-, they did not excite the curiosity of Guillermo Kahlo, who had little taste for local color or the picturesque. Nor was he interested in the ever more frequent contests held by the associations of photographers and the illustrated publications, although these offered opportunities to many professionals to earn their letters of patent in the genres of portraiture and landscape photography.
These kinds of photographs began to take the place of the lithographs that had been popular up until then in the taste of a public with the financial means to acquire these illustrated publications. This varied universe caused photographs to circulate in new ways, and stereoscopy generated a new way of conceiving time and distance which would lead to the postcard. Stereoscopic scenes and views gave the two-dimensional images a depth and relief that made them seem more real in the eyes of many people. These images were viewed through a special apparatus called a stereoscope, and since the end of the 1870s they had become a popular form of entertainment, whether at public exhibitions to which admission was charged, or in the privacy of the homes of the wealthier classes. Carlos Córdova has written that the stereoscope offered the possibility of virtual travel to the most remote and far-flung places on the planet.14 The postcard, the successor of the stereoscopic image, personalized the visual experience of a journey to distant sites through the space reserved for the text, which could be addressed to loved ones, brought closer by means of the mail service. The special attraction of the illustrated magazines was their combination of photography with typography and the design of trims and borders: the page layout began to assume a particular look in each publication.
Antonio Saborit has described the vision of Rafael Reyes Spíndola, founder and editor-in-chief of El Mundo Ilustrado, who kept a large number of illustrators, painters, caricaturists, and photographers on his staff. Although he invited contributions from at least twenty-two photographers in different cities across Mexico, the images they sent in were mainly intended to be used as models by the illustrators.15 Seldom, therefore, did they form an integral part of an article or investigative report, even though Manuel Ramos, the famous photojournalist who was beginning his career at the time, was eventually put in charge of the graphic department. Among the professional photographs, Guillermo Kahlo regularly contributed images which can be identified by their precision and -as of a certain date- the signature (“Kahlo, foto”) added neatly in the lower right corner. It is not known whether Ramos and Kahlo were acquainted, but the possibility is intriguing. They both left a visual record of Mexico City, though Ramos preferred to include in his images the city’s residents engaged in their everyday activities.
A specialist in “Buildings, Interiors, Factories, Machinery, etc.” (according to an advertisement in the 24 February 1901 issue of El Mundo Ilustrado), Kahlo contributed mainly to the “Modern Mexico” section of the magazine, which kept readers abreast of the rapid changes taking place in the city under the administration of Porfirio Díaz. An increase in population -from 344,000 inhabitants registered in the 1895 census to 720,000 in 1910- and strong economic growth (in spite of a crisis that culminated in a change from the silver standard to the gold standard in 1905) catalyzed the turn-of-the-century construction market. Much of this construction activity was captured in captioned photographs, from the grandiloquent official buildings and monuments, whose cornerstones were laid at elaborate ceremonies, to sumptuous private residences and the new neighborhoods developed for a burgeoning middle class or to provide housing for workers and office clerks. According to the influential architect Nicolás Mariscal: “This final third of the century, which happily encompasses a period of peace, has fostered a great movement in construction, especially of private buildings, homes, and commercial warehouses, which can be explained by the fact that it is private individuals who have been the first to reap the profits.”16
The year 1901 was one of feverish activity for Kahlo, who confirmed his vocation for architectural photography around this time. But he also contributed photographs to El Mundo Ilustrado, such as those of the German ship Vineta, anchored off Veracruz (20 February 1901) and the of the inauguration of the chapel dedicated to Maximilian on the Cerro de las Campanas in Querétaro. Present at this latter ceremony were the Austrian princes, whom Kahlo captured in a conventional group portrait (28 April 1901). Kahlo’s nationality must have been decisive in earning him both of these commissions, since it allowed him to communicate fully with people involved in the report. At the same time, these contributions show he was willing to accept “orders outside of the capital city,” as he offered to do in one of the few advertisements he published.17
In the almanac published by El Mundo Ilustrado “a few words” were offered in recognition of the magazine’s photographers, its “constant and esteemed collaborators,” accompanied by several brief descriptions of the most prominent of them at the time. About Kahlo we read: “Particularly noteworthy are his splendid ‘interiors’ and street scenes; he enjoys a deserved reputation in Mexico as a genuine master of his art; he is especially skilled in taking photographs of buildings…”18
As part of his business strategy, Kahlo gathered many of his architectural photographs -published in books and magazines in the early years of the century- in finely-produced albums such as the one entitled Mexiko 1904, a copy of which is to be found in the Manuel Arango collection of the Francisco Xavier Clavijero Library at the Universidad Iberoamericana. Kahlo apparently produced various albums of this kind, attractive not only to Mexicans and foreigners resident in the country, but also to visiting savants.19 The large format and fine print quality of these albums made them elegant -and doubtless expensive- alternatives to individual views in smaller formats or postcard size, which might be readily acquired in many retail establishments but were frequently of poor production quality, since they were published in large print runs at a low cost. The albums such as those Kahlo compiled became precious souvenirs of their visits to Mexico preserved by wealthy foreign visitors.
Several postcards of Kahlo’s images, however, have also survived. They were printed by the establishment of Latapí & Bert, which had a reputation for this kind of work. But neither Kahlo’s photographic style nor his subject-matter was suited to the postcard format, and his obsession with printing quality would have distanced him from this lucrative commerce. Juan Coronel Rivera also points out that Kahlo was an excellent calligrapher, especially skilled in Gothic lettering, and this talent served to complement his income, for he was hired to design albums, diplomas, and coats-of-arms.20 The inscriptions on his plates, with their legible, well-rounded lettering, unmistakably Kahlo’s, bear witness to his skill.
In a short time Kahlo built up a reputation as the architectural photographer, a specialist in the production of visual chronicles of the construction process of modern buildings, carried out with the new technical procedures which combined iron, brick, and cement. His reputation extended to the registry of factories and mines, as witnessed by his outstanding work in 1909 and 1910 for the Compañía Fundidora de Fierro y Acero de Monterrey, a steel and ironworks which erected some of the structures that conferred a new architectural image on several Mexican cities, and especially the capital. Kahlo prepared one series about these metallic structures and another, consisting of thirty-four photographs, about the factory installations of the company. In some cases, workers or company officials appear in these images, but as an integral part of the labor process or in the stiff poses typical of the few commercial portraits he executed.21 The Compañía Fundidora used some of these images in an advertising campaign that was so effective it continued until the 1930s.22
The construction boom of the last years of the Porfiriato gave rise to fierce debates among architects about the direction Mexican architecture was taking and the aesthetic qualities of the new buildings. María Estela Eguiarte has pointed out that “the simultaneous quest for a national character and for universal values [was] a clear symptom of the complex fin-de-siècle atmosphere.”23 For Mexican architects this meant exploring the stylistic possibilities of the pre-Hispanic and colonial past. Kahlo’s work was an integral part of this panorama, for he photographed the principal structures which were to highlight the modernity achieved after one hundred years of independence: the Post Office, the Legislative Palace, the new National Theater, and the Monument to Independence. He also left a record of the residences of merchants and industrialists who followed the fashions in vogue among the middle and upper classes during the final years of the Díaz regime. A good example is the home of Adolfo Chaix in Coyoacán, built around 1907, whose façade and neatly furnished rooms, ready for the family and their visitors, were captured in Kahlo’s photographs.
Kahlo’s images were in high demand among architects, and the photographer had to handle a heavy workload until around 1913. The writer Francisco Monterde offers a testimony: between 1915 and 1918 he was on the staff of the illustrated magazines México and Tricolor, and had dealings with Kahlo: “I often turned to Don Guillermo, and his excellent archive and invariable kindness never failed to come to my aid…. He had the rare gift of knowing how to listen; he understood what was being requested of him, and was able to supply with efficacy his artfully produced photographers.”24 These publications opened their columns to him and credited his contributions; Tricolor, for example, called him “this magazine’s favorite photographer.”25
The first work of Kahlo’s that we can link directly to the government of Porfirio Díaz was the study of the president’s official residence, the famous Chapultepec Castle, and of the work undertaken to embellish the surrounding park, started in 1898 and concluded just before the celebration of the centennial of independence.26 This commission was decisive in Kahlo’s career, for his work was followed closely by José Yves Limantour, the influential Minister of Finance and a friend of the newspaperman Reyes Spíndola, whose publishing ventures Limantour was rumored to help finance. The recommendation to employ Kahlo probably came from Reyes Spíndola.
Kahlo operated by first executing a detailed series of photographs of the building or subject-matter of the commission. His high standards made this a long and laborious process. At least one set of the impeccable prints was delivered to the client or sponsor, but Kahlo himself kept the negatives, and would eventually compile an important archive of buildings and monuments, especially those in the capital city, which he could drawn on to meet the demands of the illustrated magazines. In addition to these publications, the country’s rapid economic growth gave rise to countless guides, compendiums, and histories, all of which also required illustrations. An image from the series on Chapultepec Castle appeared on the first page of the newspaper El Siglo XX in San Luis Potosí in 1902.27 Some other shots of Chapultepec Park and of the sober elegance of the presidential residence graced the cover of John Reginald Southworth’s México ilustrado in 1903.28 The English publisher Southworth specialized in bilingual publications about Mexico, financed in part by the government -federal or state, as the case might be-, since the main objective of the volumes was the promotion of commerce and the dissemination of information of interest to those who might be intending to invest in different parts of Mexico. To make them more attractive, they included a large number of illustrations and a basic guide, as well as paid advertisements, a popular way of financing publications since the end of the previous century. Kahlo inserted an advertisement in both publications, something he rarely did because of the specialized nature of the services he offered, which were in any case widely recognized.
In 1907, José Juan Tablada published “The Beautifying of the Capital,” an enthusiastic article about the changes the city was undergoing, illustrated with three photographs by Kahlo:
Rubble can be seen everywhere one looks, as the old mansions fall, to the dismay of poets and archaeologists; but Mexico City is giving to her countenance the expression of her civilized and modern soul… From the rubble the New City is little by little emerging. The grim colonial features, ascetic and full of ennui, are vanishing from its countenance, giving way to the serenity and strength of a solid progress.29
To add the so-called new architecture to the registry of buildings erected during the period of Spanish colonial rule might seem a futile, even contradictory exercise. For many -the poets and archaeologists of Tablada, the scholars and historians of the National Museum- the ongoing destruction of the architecture that outlined the profile of the capital city for centuries and defined its urban concept made it essential to preserve at least a visual record of it. The intention was to promote the appreciation of the architectural language of the colonial period in such a way that it might be incorporated, along with the pre-Hispanic world, into the theoretical and formal proposals of contemporary architects, who formed such an active group at the time.
In 1892, on the occasion of the four-hundredth anniversary of the discovery of America, Manuel G. Revilla was commissioned by Román S. de Lascuráin, director of the Escuela Nacional de Bellas Artes, to write El arte en México en la época antigua y durante el gobierno virreinal.30 In the same line, albeit with a different purpose -that of setting out examples for the architecture of the United States-, in 1901 Sylvester Baxter published Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico, a beautiful volume accompanied by a series of photographs by Henry Greenwood Peabody, probably taken a couple of years before.31 According to Baxter, the destruction of colonial architecture would also have eliminated much of the charm that Mexico exercised over the cultivated tourist.32 This modern vision was no part of the project originally developed by Kahlo, although his photographs have been used since in countless publications aimed at the tourism market. An example from 1931: the publisher of the newspaper Excélsior released a volume of rotogravures under the title Álbum de México monumental, edited by José Antonio González.33 The purpose of the volume was to “assemble a graphic representation of the importance and beauty” of the country, with texts in three languages, which would contribute to “a better understanding, beyond our frontiers, of the importance of the Mexican Republic as a social and political entity.” This was achieved by combining images in different styles by many photographers (including Kahlo’s monuments) in the “Colonial Mexico” section.
Given this cultural climate, it was not surprising that a photographic record of the principal buildings of the colonial past was conceived as a fitting contribution to the celebration of the centennial of Mexican independence. What is more curious is that three official institution undertook the task at the same time: the Ministry of Development, the National Museum, and the Ministry of Finance. The results constitute different approaches -regional compendium, artistic catalogue, and real estate registry- to forming a testimony to the colonial legacy. They also attest to the interest in this heritage that existed in official circles toward the end of the Porfiriato.34 It is clear there was a group of colonial constructions appreciated as part of the country’s monumental heritage in both educated and popular circles, although in Manuel Toussaint’s opinion “almost all of the Mexican historians of the nineteenth century were ignorant of the value of colonial art.”35 Nevertheless, a decree of December 1902 concerning the real estate in the possession of the federal government put “archaeological or historical buildings and ruins” on the same level, and placed “artistic monuments in federal public places, and the conservation of archaeological and historical monuments” under the guardianship of the Ministry of Justice.36
The first project to see the light was Ciudades coloniales y capitales de la República Mexicana, by the medical doctor and historian Antonio Peñafiel, published by the Ministry of Development.37 Peñafiel had worked at the Ministry as Director General of Statistics, drawing up the first modern census of the country in 1895 and designing the Mexican pavilion in “Aztec” style for the Paris World’s Fair of 1889. Peñafiel’s work contains not only images of the monuments but also panoramic views of cities, landscapes, portraits, and pre-Hispanic pieces, which reflect the author’s multiple interests, as well as the perspective of the Ministry itself.
At the National Museum, Antonio Cortés began around 1908 to collect images of façades, interiors, doorways, panels, and other detail of colonial buildings, “intended for a monumental work on Mexican art.”38 This painter -whom Toussaint described as an “excellent photographer”39- was in charge of the Section of Retrospective Industrial Art and had to improvise as a photographer when the director of the museum Genaro García announced the publication of a work in three volumes with photographs of the “most precious historical and architectural jewels.” The work was entitled La arquitectura de México; the first volume, devoted to churches, was published in 1914 -although it had been completed in 1911-, and the second in 1932.40 They contained 8-x-10-inch plates with frontal views of buildings intended to provide information about the constructions and decoration of the colonial period.
It seems to have been around 1904 that José Yves Limantour, the Minister of Finance, began to draw up an inventory of “churches property of the federal government” and a “survey of the national monuments and real estate,” closely associated with the inventory of federal property that had been ordered by the same ministry in 1897. This earlier inventory was intended as a registry of all the property proceeding from the nationalization decreed by the Reform Laws, among which “churches, sanctuaries, and chapels” were specified, along with buildings that for other reasons had passed into the hands of the nation.41
This commission would give Kahlo a lasting name in the annals of photography in Mexico. At the time it required him to compile an exhaustive registry of the capital city and its surroundings and to travel to at least twenty-seven towns and villages in thirteen different states, loaded with a cumbersome camera -perhaps two of them-, dozens of fragile 11-x-14-inch glass plates -stored in heavy wooden boxes-, chemicals, and notebooks. Although he did not stray from the routes of easiest access -many of them served by the railroad-, he would have needed porters and probably assistants as well to set up the camera, insert the plates, and then in the studio develop and print the numerous negatives. We know nothing about all of this; we do not even know who drew up the itinerary, what order Kahlo followed, and where he submitted his materials. What we do have is an outstanding corpus of negatives and prints.
According to Juan Coronel Rivera, Kahlo completed and published the registry of Templos de Propiedad Federal [Churches Property of the Federal Government] in 1909, “in so costly and limited an edition that for a long time it was as though these volumes had never seen the light, and the images had not been used until the six books of Iglesias de México [Churches of Mexico] which began to be published in 1924.”42 A possible confirmation of the date is to be found in the fact that starting in April 1909, Limantour began to send to the National Museum prints “of full views and of details of the principal churches of this capital city.”43 Other donations would follow, including the 1,221 photographs from the collection entitled “Photographic inventory of the churches of the Republic,” which Antonio Cortés handed over to the museum library in 1915.44
The edition consisted of twenty-two leather-bound volumes, without indexes or introductory explanations, and with varying numbers of pages, beginning from a flyleaf bearing a coat of arms that included the Mexican eagle and references to the arts. The photographs, with a linen backing to ensure their preservation, are mounted on either side of a piece of cardboard printed with an art-nouveau-inspired border and an indication of the site. The volumes were set up at the Encuadernación Salesiana in the Santa Julia neighborhood; although it is not known how many copies were printed, the production of the albums must have been a laborious task for Kahlo. We do know that Kahlo continued his registry of churches and monuments after the resignation of Porfirio Díaz, for photographs with later dates have survived, but it is uncertain whether he was still working on a commission from the new government. One such later photograph is of the interior patio of the Convento of San Agustín in Querétaro, dated 1912, a print of which is to be found in the collection of the Fomento Cultural Grupo Salinas.
It was doubtless Iglesias de México, another monumental project under the auspices of the Ministry of Finance, that brought Kahlo’s work to the attention of the public. Like many politicians of the post-revolutionary period, Alberto J. Pani, a civil engineer who began his career in the ill-fated government of Francisco I. Madero, was committed to fostering a national art and culture, and under his direction the Ministry of Finance sponsored various publishing projects. The controversial Dr. Atl (the painter Gerardo Murillo) was in charge of seeing the six large-format volumes through the press.45 He also wrote, provided drawings and watercolors, participated in the selection of photographs, and is likely to have had a hand in the design. Other collaborators were the art historian and writer Manuel Toussaint, who was involved in the cultural movement of Vasconcelos, and the civil engineer José R. Benítez, a history enthusiast who would soon thereafter become director of the Department of National Monuments of the National Museum. The making of Iglesias de México throws into relief how much we still need to learn about the relations between the circles of power in the post-revolutionary governments and the incorporation of colonial constructive and decorative elements into the official architectural and iconographic language.
The first volume, devoted to domes, has a title page on which the following credits appear: “Text and drawings by Dr. Atl” and “Photographs by Kahlo.” The latter credit would be repeated in the next five volumes. A note on the back of the page reads:
The churches of Mexico constitute the best exponent of the culture of the colonial period and today make up a very important part of our national heritage. Long conserved in the archives of the Department of Nationalized Property, and almost forgotten, accessible only to a privileged few, is the admirable photographic labor undertaken by an artist commissioned by the government of the Republic…. The Ministry… has deemed it advisable, taking advantage of these photographic documents in its possession… to publish a series of finely-produced monographs to be placed within reach of all those who are interested in the Arts and the glory of bygone times.46
It cannot be a coincidence that the series of Iglesias de México begins with domes, which Baxter considered one of the most noble and impressive forms of monumental expression, remarking that Mexico was in a singular way a country of domes.47 Kahlo’s photographs allowed Dr. Atl to formulate an attractive visual discourse, but unfortunately he made no use of the splendid views of the interiors of the domes which the photographer had added to his visual tour of the churches in quest of a more urban -or even costumbrista- conception. Dr. Atl focused on the surroundings and the impact of the constructions on the rural and urban landscape, as can be seen from his drawings.
Toussaint had been familiar with Kahlo’s work since 1915, when as librarian of the National Museum he received the photographs handed over by Antonio Cortés; this was likely to have been his direct link with the work of the photographer. In the second volume of the series, devoted to the Mexico City cathedral, Toussaint wrote with enthusiasm:
The plates which constitute the core of the volume, the most useful and most meritorious aspect of the work, have been selected not so much on the basis of quantity as with a view to having them reproduce, whether by the excellence of the photograph itself or by the possibilities of the photogravure technique, with the utmost clarity, before the eyes of the astonished reader, the magnificence of the monument…48
In order to obtain better quality, the images were produced as photogravures and attached to the pages of the volume. Even so, they fail to convey the monumentality and exquisite beauty achieved in the original albums. Although both Dr. Atl and Toussaint were sensitive to photographic quality -the former because of his connections with the artistic avant-garde, the latter because he was an amateur photographer-, it was impossible to imagine that they would take direct positives again: the result would have been a work with very limited circulation. On the contrary, the idea was to generate wider consensus regarding the need to preserve these numerous monuments; as the title page of the last volume stated: “…in three centuries fifteen thousand churches were built.” Nor must it be forgotten that the 1930s were the decade when various sixteenth-century remains were declared national monuments, and the Ministry of Finance once again launched a project to carry out an artistic inventory of religious buildings belonging to the federal government, publishing catalogues which covered the states of Hidalgo and Yucatán.49
Toussaint frequently illustrated his writings with images by Kahlo. As one of the pioneers in the study of colonial art, he chose illustrations that were thereafter reproduced in countless publications on the same subject. Toussaint’s notes, however, gave the impression that the photographer had already passed away, though in fact Kahlo was still alive and occasionally taking photographs (he died in 1941). The omission has been explained by Toussaint’s connections with the elite of the Porfiriato, but the fact that the work was published by a government ministry suggests that we still have much to discover. Thus, in the revisionist account Toussaint wrote in his introduction to the translation of Baxter’s work, published in 1934, he states:
Around the turn of the century a German photographer who has lived among us for many years, Mr. Kahlo, received a commission from the Ministry of Finance, under the direction of Mr. Limantour, to photograph the churches of the Republic. The collection has been preserved and has served on more than one occasion to illustrate publications of prime importance, though it suffers from certain defects: there was no technician or critic to direct it; the artist took the negatives he believed sufficient; he was correctly compiling a Photographic Inventory. As a result, among the thousand or so plates that make up the collection there are many that lack artistic interest. This was the first labor the Ministry of Finance performed on behalf of Colonial Art.50
Further on he adds: “With all its defects and inequalities, Iglesias de México is the most noteworthy publication that has been produced in Mexico on the architecture of the colonial period.”51 We might add ourselves that this was so thanks in part to the magnificent images of Guillermo Kahlo.
Architectural photography has a noble tradition behind it. The photographing of buildings, which do not change -except for the light in which they stand-, was suited to the long exposure times of the early days of photography, and the genre has developed over time with the changes in technical possibilities. By 1851, Louis Blanquart-Évrard, inventor and influential publisher, was recommending special lighting for different kinds of architecture: with greater contrast for mediaeval buildings and more uniform illumination for modern ones, for example.52 Over time, what gained currency was the objective representation of the building, isolated from its context (which often lent a touch of local color), and the constructive or ornamental detail.
Kahlo’s photographs certainly reveal the architectural particularities of the colonial monuments, thanks to careful framing and symmetrical balance. A parsimonious handling of light guides the viewer over the successive planes that constitute the architectural space, making for its easier comprehension. On occasion, however, the photographer’s attraction to constructive elements -especially domes and vaults- leads him to create rather abstract images, heirs to the fascination with technology of such nineteenth-century artists as Auguste-Hippolyte Collard and Louis-Émile Durandelle, and forerunners of the avant-garde style expressed in the famous La Tolteca competition in 1931.53 This is a little-studied aspect of Kahlo’s art: the lesson of geometry and visual rationality he may have imparted to the photographers of the so-called avant-garde, who were developing their own language in the very years when Kahlo’s work became more widely known. Especially mysterious is his isolation in the cultural panorama, especially if we consider his family ties with Diego Rivera, through the latter’s marriage to Frida. Perhaps only his illness can explain it.
Kahlo turned various strategies to account in conveying the aesthetic richness of the monumental constructions: he employed the centered, frontal view of the architectural motif (the view in elevation), which involved placing the camera at a high, distant point so that the entire structure could be encompassed.54 He also used perspective views, which accentuate depth and create the sensation of moving physically through the architecture. The former approach produces a precise and rational record of the building, whereas the latter seems to move the observer closer, with a sense of physical presence. Traditionally, perspective views include non-architectural elements that happen to be in the surroundings; in Kahlo’s work, however, these are minimized so that the visual impact converges on the structure, transforming the context into a simple frame for the majesty of the motif. Monumental architecture makes the elements of modern life seem mere accidents: signs, posts, and cables are perceived only after a moment, after the monument itself, and figure as alien elements, irritating at times, though we examine them closely now for clues to the life of the period.
Kahlo also avoided the human presence that other photographers preferred to include, especially in views of archaeological ruins, in order to convey an idea of the size of the monument. Kahlo conveys a sense of scale by means of the architectural elements themselves, which suggests he understood them. Curiously enough, in spite of the richness of detail, he does not generate a tactile sensation, but rather a visual and rational one: Kahlo models his images by means of light, a crystalline light which he must have studied before exposing his plates. His contemporary Frederick H. Evans spent hours waiting for the best moment to take a photograph, and he would then compare the positive with the subject of the image in order to make corrections.55 It is not known whether Kahlo was familiar with Evans’s writings -though it is quite possible that he was-, or if he worked in a similar way, but the format of his photographs and the results obtained certainly suggest a prior mental construct, a calculated and well-thought-out approach to framing.
In Guillermo Kahlo’s heritage photographs, architecture holds absolute sway not only over the other arts but over the human beings who inhabit the sites. The images become iconic elements submerged in a timeless atmosphere, a celebration of the permanence of the monument. They are cold, cerebral, and have therefore been seen as simple and superb documents. We believe the best of them are photographs with a life of their own, still and silent.
K | Church of La Enseñanza. Mexico City, ca. 1908
View of the nave and main retable from under the choir loft.
K | Capilla Real. San Pedro Cholula, Puebla, 1911
K | Handbasin, Sacristy of the Church of San Francisco Javier.
Tepotzotlán, Estado de México, ca. 1920
4-5|12-13 Aqueduct | 1726-1735 | Outskirts of the city of Querétaro, Querétaro
The wealthy and prominent don Juan Antonio de Urrutia y Arana, Marqués de la Villa del Villar del Águila, one-time alderman of Mexico City, resided in Querétaro from 1714 and decided to provide the inhabitants of the city with clean water, at the request of the Capuchin nuns who had established a convent there. In January 1726 he began work by building a large water deposit in San Pedro de la Cañada, where there was a spring. This was the origin of the Querétaro aqueduct, two leagues (1,280 meters) long and constructed of ashlar courses, with 74 arches of quarried stone reaching a maximum height of 23 meters.
The symmetrical arches and stout pillars of unadorned ashlars delineate, by their balance and repetition, a pleasing and harmonious silhouette. In 1735 the aqueduct was completed at the Plazuela de la Cruz.
This work of hydraulic architecture attracted the attention of both Peabody and Kahlo, who photographed it from a distance in order to capture the largest possible extent of the monument.
P | Photograph 1898 | no. 166 | K | Photograph 1912 | no. 273
19 Vault and tower, Metropolitan Cathedral | From 1562 to the end of the eighteenth century | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución
The Mexico City Cathedral is the quintessential colonial building. It incorporates many of the arts that flourished in New Spain (architecture, painting, retable-making, and the decorative arts) and displays the work of the most important architects, painters, sculptors, joiners, gilders, cabinetmakers, musicians, and stonecutters of each period. There had been a primitive cathedral; the construction of the one that now exists began in 1562 and continued until 1687. Later, toward the end of the colonial period, Manuel Tolsá finished the exterior, unifying it with a balustrade and ornamenting it with finials and sculptures.
Guillermo Kahlo took the most complete series of photographs of the cathedral in existence. He captured this extraordinary view from a point along the circular balustrade that embraces the dome designed by Tolsá. It shows the vault of the central nave, as well as the balustrades and the urn-shaped finials with which the architect from Valencia gave unity and harmony to the exterior of the Cathedral. The west tower, with its two balanced bell chambers, also displays the neoclassical ornamentation with which the work was completed. As a final touch, each tower, with its bell-shaped top, was ornamented with eight large sculptures by José Damián Ortiz de Castro.
The clock, housed in a cubical volume, is accompanied by three sculptures by the same architect: Faith, Hope, and Charity. The central vault, which is higher that the lateral naves, was finished around 1664, during the viceroyalty of De Mancera.
K | Photograph ca. 1908 | no. 43
20-21 Dome, Metropolitan Cathedral | Late eighteenth, early nineteenth century | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Monte de Piedad)
One of the most outstanding works of the Valencian architect Manuel Tolsá is doubtless the monumental dome of the Mexico City Cathedral. Tolsá arrived in New Spain in 1791, appointed to the post of director of sculpture at the Academy of San Carlos, but he was soon commissioned to finish the work on the Cathedral, which had been going on for two hundred years. He designed the new dome, his most important creation, to replace one dating from the sixteenth century which lacked proportion. Tolsá’s dome, with its balustrades and finials, lends great harmony to the cathedral complex as a whole.
The dome rises from a square base structure supporting an octagonal drum which is pierced by eight windows flanked by Ionic pilasters and covered by curved pediments. A semi-spherical dome covers the drum and is crowned with a tall, slender lantern light. The groups of Ionic pilasters on the drum and the balustrades partially surrounding the dome itself lend harmony and unity to the work; the decoration is completed with finials, coats of arms, and candelabra.
Peabody’s photograph was the first ever taken of this monument. Rather than isolating the dome, it places it in context, capturing part of the vaults of the crossing, the buttress, the balustrades, and the finials. The photograph was taken from the west tower of the Cathedral.
Kahlo’s frontal view, on the other hand, was taken from atop the central vault of the Cathedral. It is precise and balanced, but a little cool in its lack of context.
P | Photograph 1898 | no. 191 | K | Photograph 1908 | no. 44
23 Main doorway (or Portada del Perdón), Metropolitan Cathedral | 1672; sculptures, 1687 | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Monte de Piedad)
The main façade of the Cathedral has three entryways, leading into the two processional naves and the central nave. The central one, called the “Doorway of Forgiveness,” was completed in 1672, during the viceroyalty of the Marqués de Mancera, though the upper section is of later date. Its name comes from the tradition of Spanish Renaissance cathedrals, whose central doorways were so called because the penitents of the Inquisition entered through them to reconcile themselves with the Church and receive her pardon.
The beautiful door of paneled wood, enclosed by a round arch, is flanked by pairs of fluted columns with Doric capitals, with a niche inserted between them on either side. The niches contain sculptures of St. Peter and St. Paul, carved in Villerías stone by Miguel Ximénez around 1687. The Ionic columns on the second level have a zigzag pattern on the lower third of the shaft and fluting along the rest of it. Two niches contain sculptures of another pair of apostles, St. Andrew and St. James, accompanied by a relief in the same white stone depicting the Assumption of the Virgin Mary.
The doorway is framed by two massive buttresses, with an inverted console placed on top of each one, which extend up to the halfway point of the second level.
P | Photograph 1898 | no. 192
24-25 Façade and main doorway, Sagrario | Eighteenth century, from 1749 to 1768 | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Seminario)
The sacrament house of the Mexico City cathedral was originally located in the chapels of Our Lady of Anguish and St. Isidore, but in the mid-eighteenth century the decision was taken to give it a building of its own next to the cathedral. The renowned architect Lorenzo Rodríguez was commissioned to take charge of the work. The cornerstone was laid on 14 February 1749, in the presence of the viceroy Conde de Revillagigedo, and construction was completed nineteen years later, in 1768.
The plan of the Sagrario is a Greek cross, the western transept of which leads into the cathedral by way of the Chapel of St. Isidore. The façades of the Sagrario are strikingly elaborate. They are consummate examples of Mexican baroque –in the modality known as barroco estípite, after the characteristic pilasters in the form of an inverted pyramid– and employ a perfect combination of the two kinds of stone typical of colonial constructions in Mexico City: red tezontle and the quarried stone from Chiluca.
The monumental façades, one looking south onto the Zócalo and the other facing east, resemble enormous retables executed in stone. Designed in two tiers, they are given a sense of verticality and distinction by the enormous estípite pilasters –previously used only on wooden retables– and the spaces between them reserved for niches, which contain sculptures.
Dedicated to St. Joseph, one of the patrons of the colonial city, the doorway on the principal southern façade draws on the symbols of the New Testament for its sculptures and relief work. In the lower-tier niches on either side stand sculptures of St. Peter and St. Paul. The door has been delicately carved with figures in relief and geometrical forms. Above it, set within a mixtilinear arch, there is a niche flanked by tiny estípite columns and containing a sculpture of St. Joseph, accompanied by two seated angels holding cornucopias.
K | Photographs ca. 1908 and 1922 | no. 45 and 48
26-27 Processional nave (Gospel side), Metropolitan Cathedral | Seventeenth century | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Monte de Piedad)
The interior of the Mexico City Cathedral is divided into five naves: a central one, two processional, or lateral, ones, and two lined with chapels. The processional naves, as the name indicates, allow religious processions and ceremonies to circulate along them. They may also be referred to as the nave on the Gospel side and the nave on the Epistle side.
This photograph, taken from the entryway, conveys the height and depth of the Cathedral. Also visible is the wooden grille of the first chapel, dedicated to Our Lady of Anguish of Granada; the gallery surrounding the choir; the exterior of the choir itself, with its great baroque organ; and two vaults of the processional nave.
P | Photograph 1898 | no. 194
28-29 Organ, Metropolitan Cathedral | 1736 | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Monte de Piedad)
The monumental organs are doubtless among the most important furnishings of the Cathedral.
This organ occupied the upper gallery between the arch of the choir loft and the columns of the left aisle. Entirely rebuilt in 1736 by José Nasarre, it consists of four levels, three of which contain the pipes. It is crowned by numerous sculptures of tiny angels holding musical instruments. The elaborately baroque wind chest is of precious wood and contains a total of 3,350 pipes.
K | Photograph 1909 | no. 51 and 46
30 Choir and choir stalls | 31 Metropolitan Cathedral | 1695 | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Monte de Piedad)
The five-nave plan of the Mexico City Cathedral follows the design of cathedrals in Spain, with the choir constructed at the end of the central nave. This space contained the choir stalls, where the clergy sat during the mass, celebrated with singing generally accompanied by organ music.
Thus, the choir of the Mexico City Cathedral is furnished with two baroque organs and a beautiful set of wooden choir stalls, designed and carved by the master sculptor Juan de Rojas in 1695. The backs of the two tiers of stalls are carved with reliefs of saints and small twisted columns. The choir is separated from the central nave by an extraordinary tombac grille made in Macao around 1724.
This space inspired both Henry Greenwood Peabody and Guillermo Kahlo, whose photographs make it possible to appreciate different details of the treasures contained in the choir. Peabody’s more spacious view captures the upper and lower tiers of stalls and the copete, or back part, of the Altar del Perdón, with its painting of the Apocalypse executed by Juan Correa in 1684 (and destroyed in a fire in 1967).
Kahlo’s photograph shows only the central section of the choir stalls, focusing on the central relief of St. Peter crowned with the papal tiara. Also clearly visible are the carvings of saints and archangels on either side, the “Salomonic” columns which separate the stalls, and the stairs, which were later removed.
P | Photograph 1898 | no. 196 | K | Photograph 1908 | no. 50
32 Presbytery and Altar of the Kings, Metropolitan Cathedral | 1718-1725 | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Monte de Piedad)
The Mexico City Cathedral followed the model of Spanish cathedrals, which had a main chapel, or Chapel of the Kings (always dedicated to the king), at the apse end.
There had been plans to build a large retable since the last third of the seventeenth century, but many years passed before the work was carried out. It was an artist from Seville, Jerónimo de Balbás, who was commissioned by the Viceroy Marqués de Valero to undertake the construction of the most important retable in the Cathedral, and doubtless the most notable example of the style known in Mexico as barroco estípite. Work began in 1718 and was complete in 1725.
The shape of this great retable is irregular, with circular and mixtilinear elements, and daringly vertical: four estípite pilasters rise up to sustain the semicircular crowning section which covers the vault of the dome. The entire retable is of carved wood. Its sculptures of sainted kings and angels and its carved garlands, reliefs, and moldings were later covered in gold leaf by the painter-gilder Francisco Martínez. The retable was completed with two important paintings: The Assumption of the Virgin Mary, to whom the Cathedral is dedicated, and The Adoration of the Kings, both by Juan Rodríguez Juárez.
Two other more discreet retables accompany this principal one to enhance the central significance of the main chapel. They are also of gilded wood and contain paintings by Rodríguez Juárez.
K | Photograph ca. 1909 | no. 49
33 Sacristy, Metropolitan Cathedral | 1623, paintings; 1686-1689 | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (at Monte de Piedad)
The sacristy is one of the oldest spaces in the Mexico City Cathedral. Its Gothic rib vault was finished in 1623, and remains an outstanding example of Gothic art in Mexico. Located at the northeastern end of the nave of chapels, the sacristy is used to store the liturgical ornaments and priestly garments, hence its beautiful wooden chests of drawers.
The walls have been covered with monumental oil paintings dating from the end of the seventeenth century, masterworks of baroque art in New Spain: The Apparition of St. Michael, The Woman of the Apocalypse, The Church Triumphant, and The Triumph of the Eucharist, by Cristóbal de Villalpando, executed 1686-1687; and The Assumption-Coronation of the Virgin Mary and The Entry of Christ into Jerusalem by Juan Correa, executed 1689-1691. These masterly allegories, with their complex iconography, earned Villalpando and Correa a place as the most important painters of their time in New Spain.
The canvases are mounted in solid frames of carved and gilded wood, with thick moldings, and accompanied by four sculptures of archangels in wood with estofado decoration, the work of the master builder and carver Manuel de Velasco.
P | Photograph 1898 | no. 198
34-35 Church of San Hipólito | Finished 1739 | Mexico City | Puente de Alvarado (at Paseo de la Reforma)
On the spot where Hernán Cortés and his forces suffered the major setback of the Noche Triste, or “Sad Night,” and in commemoration of the conquest of Tenochtitlan on the feast day of St. Hippolytus in 1521, a hermitage dedicated to the saint was constructed in the sixteenth century. Next to it, and under the protection of the same saint, a hospital for the insane, attended by the Hospitallers of Charity of St. Hippolytus, was founded in 1566.
The church now in existence was finished in 1739, although the left tower was not constructed until 1962. The baroque doorway, with its sculpture of St. Hippolytus on the second level, is framed by the base volumes of the towers, which are disposed at an angle and decorated with geometrical motifs that recall the Moslem-influenced mudéjar art of Spain.
Henry Greenwood Peabody’s photograph allows us to see the small churchyard, surrounded by a wall and accessed through two arched gateways ornamented with pilasters and pediments. By 1909 these no longer existed. On the corner of the churchyard wall there is a singular relief which commemorates the fall of Tenochtitlan. Peabody’s view takes in the entire monument: the churchyard, the main and lateral façades, the dome, part of the contiguous lot –occupied by the Hospital of San Hipólito–, and the Church of San Fernando in the background.
Guillermo Kahlo’s photograph, with its narrower view, concentrates the attention on the façade, with its two tiers and ornamental attic, the decoration of the towers, the transformed churchyard, and the relief associated with the conquest at the corner.
During the colonial period the conquest of Tenochtitlan was commemorated annually by means of a cavalcade led by the viceroy (who carried the royal standard) which started out from the Casas del Cabildo and ended at the Church of San Hipólito.
At the present day the church is one of the most visited in Mexico City, because of the veneration there –particularly on the 28th day of every month– of St. Jude Thaddeus, who has consigned St. Hippolytus to oblivion.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 201 | K | Photograph 1909 | no. 18
36 General view of exterior and doorway-37 Church of El Carmen | 1802-1807 | Celaya, Guanajuato | El Carmen (at Álvaro Obregón)
The Church of El Carmen is considered the most important work of Francisco Eduardo Tresguerras, an artist from Celaya, Guanajuato, who was at once painter, sculptor, engraver, and architect. It is certainly one of the major examples of Mexican neoclassical architecture. Construction was carried out from 1802 to 1807 at the request of the Carmelite order, which had lost its former church in a fire. The new one was dedicated on 4 November 1807.
The church, in the form of a Latin cross, is of fine proportions and harmonious design. It is remarkable for its main façade, which consists of a portico beneath a single slender tower. This portico-façade is composed of classical columns, a frieze, and a pediment, on top of which the coat of arms of the Carmelite order has been set. The two bell chambers of the tower are also equipped with pediments, a curved one for the lower chamber and a broken one for the upper, supported in both cases by Ionic columns.
A balanced dome, with a classically-inspired drum, covers the crossing. The drum is sectioned by pairs of columns and the dome itself clad in green and yellow glazed ceramic tiles. A balustrade runs around the upper perimeter of the drum. The lateral façade of the church is also harmonious, thanks to the decoration on the window frames, the three buttresses crowned with inverted consoles, and the delicately proportioned doorway.
The small churchyard is surrounded by a stone and ironwork enclosure crowned with pointed finials.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 263 | K | Photograph ca. 1920 | no. 96
38 Convento-39 church, former Jesuit College of San Martín and San Francisco Javier | Seventeenth and eighteenth century | Tepotzotlán, Estado de México | Plaza Hidalgo 99
The Company of Jesus established a seminary in the village of Tepotzotlán in the sixteenth century, a primitive foundation which included a school that taught indigenous languages, necessary in the missions. Although the buildings began to take shape in the course of the seventeenth century, it was not until the following century that the characteristic features of the present complex came into being: the cloisters “of the Orange Trees” and “of the Cisterns,” the Church of San Francisco Javier (1762), the retables and paintings, the sacristy, the House of Loreto (1733), the domestic chapel, the camarín of the Virgin Mary, the reliquary of St. Joseph (1783), the patios, library, kitchen, and orchard.
The church dedicated to St. Francis Xavier has one of the most ornately decorated façades of eighteenth-century baroque buildings. The church was the work of the architect Ildefonso Iniesta Bejarano, who constructed it between 1760 and 1762. Next to the single tower, the façade unfolds as a profusely ornamented stone relief. On the bottom level the arched entryway is framed by two pairs of estípite columns with Corinthian capitals; around it sculptures of saints set in niches combine with medallions in half-relief. The second level is designed with the same arrangement of pairs of estípites and niches with sculptures, but is pierced in the middle by a large mixtilinear choir window under a larger niche. The façade is crowned by an undulating attic with six estípite columns, two medallions –although the contents of the one on the right have been eliminated–, a niche containing an image of the Virgin Mary, and six finials with the sculpture of an archangel in the middle.
The rusticated buttresses and the base of the tower contrast in their bareness with the profuse ornamentation and richness of detail of the doorway façade, which extends to the two bell chambers of the tower with their delicate pairs of estípites at each corner.
This monument, one of the jewels of the colonial period, now houses the Museo Nacional del Virreinato.
K | Photograph 1910 | no. 83 | P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 230
40 Façade and lateral doorway-41 Church of El Carmen | 1747-1764 | San Luis Potosí, San Luis Potosí | Juan Sarabia (at Manuel José Othón)
The baroque age was particularly generous with the city of San Luis Potosí, endowing it with constructions of great richness, such as the Church of El Carmen, remarkable not only for its façades, but also for its stone retables and camarín of the Virgin Mary. The church and adjoining Carmelite convent was founded thanks to the patronage of Nicolás Fernando de Torres, a wealthy native of Seville who financed the work.
It is not known who designed the Church of El Carmen, which began to be constructed in 1747 and was finished in 1764, but he was certainly an artist of great talent. The main façade has a single tower and richly carved doorway in a baroque style in transition between estípite and “Salomonic.” The lower level has spiraling columns and an arch from which vegetal ornamentation sprouts like Gothic pendants; the upper level has estípite pilasters which section the façade. The niches contain sculptures of Carmelite saints, such as St. Teresa of Ávila and St. John of the Cross. A third level, with shorter estípites, prolongs the vertical lines of the façade and ends in a sort of folded drapery sustained by angels. The central niche is presided by Our Lady of Mount Carmel and the coats of arms of the order. The tower is richly decorated with twisted columns and crowned with a spire.
The lateral doorway photographed by Guillermo Kahlo is another of the jewels of the church. The profuse stone carving invades every inch of wall surface with vegetal motifs. Thick “Salomonic” columns frame the doorway on the lower level and estípite pilasters on the upper level flank a sculpture of St. Joseph with the Christ child. Directly above, the Carmelite coat of arms is held up by angels.
K | Photograph ca. 1912 | no. 187 | P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 300
42-43 Church and cloister of San Agustín | Church, 1731-1736, cloister, 1731-1745 | Querétaro, Querétaro | Allende 14 (at Pino Suárez)
The Augustinian order built their convento and church in Querétaro in the same sumptuous style as other civil and religious buildings constructed in the city during the eighteenth century. Work began under the supervision of Father Martínez Lucio in May of 1731, when the cornerstone of the convento was laid; the church was solemnly dedicated on 31 October 1745 by the archbishop of Mexico Juan Antonio de Vizarrón y Eguiarreta. The convento must have been finished by that time, but the Austin friars did not move to their new establishment until 1743. The convento, large enough to house fifty or sixty religious, was dedicated to the advanced study of art and philosophy. It was there that the friars were prepared to be sent out to the order’s various conventos.
The cloister of the Augustinian convento in Querétaro is a work of incomparable richness. Groin-vaulted corridors, lined with four round arches on each of the two levels, surround all four sides of the square patio. The decoration is rich and fantastical. On the lower level a herm-like caryatid with anthropomorphic, geometrical, and vegetal elements is sculpted in stone on each of the columns, after the model of a sixteenth-century Roman palace The columns on the upper level are decorated with human forms, represented from the waist up, which also function as gargoyles, draining the rainwater off the rooftop; their hands are captured in the act of making liturgical gestures. An undulating entablature runs along the top of the cloister, decorated with moldings and broken geometrical patterns and interrupted by finials covered in vegetal motifs. In the center of the patio there is a beautiful baroque fountain, mixtilinear in plan and fully congruent with the extraordinary context in which it is found.
The building was declared an historic monument in 1935 and adapted to serve as the Museo de Arte de Querétaro in 1988.
The Church of San Agustín, another sumptuous construction of the city of Querétaro and of the Augustinian order, was built next to its convento from 1731 to 1736. When the dome was finished in 1736 the architectural work was considered complete, and the ornamentation of the interior and the making of the retables began, although the tower has never been concluded, even to the present day.
The main baroque doorway, of pink-toned quarried stone like the rest of the building, consists of three clearly marked tiers. The arch over the entryway is formed of small moldings that render it polygonal, and its keystone is delicately carved with the image of St. Augustine. The door is framed by pairs of twisted columns and niches contained sculptures of St. Augustine and St. Francis. On the second level, composed along the lines of the first, two Augustinian saints –St. Monica and St. Rita– occupy niches on either side of the choir window, with its rusticated window frame. On the top tier there is a cruciform niche containing the figure of Christ crucified, the grand ornamental and symbolic element of the façade. Sculptures of St. Joseph and the Virgin Mary accompany it on either side. To the right of the doorway is the smooth wall surface of the massive base volume of the tower. Though carved with great richness, the tower was truncated after a single bell chamber.
The magnificent baroque cloister of the Convento de San Agustín appears in all its splendor in Guillermo Kahlo’s photograph. The panoramic view embraces the corridor, with its groined vaults, arches, and columns, the central patio with its fountain, both levels of the cloister with their respective arcades, and the bell chamber of the monumental tower.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 271 | K | Photograph 1912 | no. 168
59 Church of San Felipe Neri | 1687 | Mexico City | República de El Salvador 47
The Oratory of St. Philip Neri was established in Mexico around 1657 on the initiative of P. Antonio Calderón, who assembled a group of priests in the Most Illustrious Union of St. Philip Neri, which met initially in the Church of San Bernardo and then later in La Balvanera, until an oratory was constructed.
The oratory was apparently built between 1660 and 1668 by the architect Diego Rodríguez on a lot next to the family home of the first Mexican saint, St. Philip of Jesus. It was twice expanded and then finally dedicated on 10 July 1687.
Today only the façade survives, for the church was partially destroyed by an earthquake in 1768 and later, with the expropriation of church property in the nineteenth century, reduced to functioning as a stable and a warehouse, until the Ministry of Finance salvaged it in 1960.
Henry Greenwood Peabody’s photograph of 1898 bears witness to its state at the end of the nineteenth century: a stable which offered “riding classes,” the doorway concealed by a new façade.
The original façade was the first of its kind, constructed with an arch that shelters the entire doorway. It was with this doorway, finished when the seventeenth century was still in course, that the Mexican eighteenth century began, according to the art historian Francisco de la Maza.
The enormous arch with its polygonal cornice shelters a beautiful seventeenth-century doorway. The lower tier, with its classical air, has two pairs of pilasters with Doric capitals, a frieze, and an entablature. In the center of the second tier is a relief depicting the church’s patron saint. This is crowned by a curved pediment, broken to make room for a small cross standing on a pedestal. Rising to one side is a well-proportioned tower with an octagonal plan and two levels of bell chambers.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 205
60 Choir stalls of the Church of San Agustín (now in the Salón Generalito of the former College of San Ildefonso) | 1701-1702 | Mexico City | San Ildefonso 43
More than simply furnishings, the choir stalls in the cathedrals and conventual churches of the colonial period were ornamental works of the highest order, considered on a par with other forms of sculpture. Some extraordinary examples of the art still exist in the Mexico City Cathedral, the nearby Church of Santo Domingo, the old Basilica of Guadalupe, and the Church of San Bernardino in Xochimilco.
But the most outstanding choir stalls of all were doubtless the ones made for the church of the Augustinian establishment in Mexico City, one of the most sumptuous conventos in the viceregal capital. The mahogany stalls were the work of the master woodworker and carver Salvador de Ocampo, who produced them in 1701-1702, displaying a painstaking mastery of his art.
When the Augustinian order was suppressed by the mid-nineteenth-century Reform Laws, the establishment was broken up and destroyed. The church and the chapel of the third order were abandoned, and the choir stalls disassembled and stored away. It was only in 1890, thanks to the efforts of the director of the National Preparatory School, Vidal de Castañeda, that the stalls were recovered and installed in the Salón Generalito of the former Jesuit College of San Ildefonso, which housed the school.
The choir stalls, which consist of an upper and lower section, are decorated in relief, by means of narrative panels, with Old Testament scenes chosen by Fray Gaspar Ramos, a provincial of the Augustinian order. The lower section of each stall has two decorated panels and the upper one three, in addition to sculptures and other types of ornamentation. In the line of stalls captured by Peabody the lower panels are framed with vegetal motifs; the upper ones are framed with herm-like caryatids and depict the pact between Laban and Jacob, Jacob wrestling with the angel at Mahanaim, the drunkenness of Noah, and Melchizedek offering bread and wine. The cornice above is carved with vegetal forms and volutes and crowned with mask-like finials.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 200
61 Chapel of the Third Order of St. Augustine (now part of the National Library) | 1714 | Mexico City | Uruguay (at Isabel la Católica)
The Augustinian friars arrived in New Spain in 1533 and immediately occupied a site in the capital city on which they constructed their convento, the magnificent conventual church, and later this chapel for the seculars of the Third Order.
Their first church, which had obtained royal patronage, was a sumptuous building with a wooden roof which was destroyed by fire in 1676. The second was built between 1677 and 1692. On the west side of the church a large chapel was also built and dedicated in 1714 to the Third Order. With the suppression of the religious orders in 1861, as a result of the Reform Laws, the convento was destroyed and the church plundered of its retables and choir stalls. But in 1867, history had yet another fate in store for it: it was converted into the premises of the newly-created National Library by decree of President Benito Juárez.
The necessary renovations were made: the façades of the former church were modified to eliminate the religious character of the building, the churchyard was transformed into a garden, and the wall surrounding it replaced by an iron grille. The library was inaugurated in 1884.
Up to that point the chapel of the Third Order had escaped destruction or transformation. It was at this period that Henry Greenwood Peabody took his photograph, the only testimony to the chapel with its magnificent doorway, in the “Salomonic” baroque style characterized by twisted columns, and its elegant dome, which has since disappeared, all captured from a high vantage point. In the early years of the twentieth century the chapel was adapted to form part of the library. The interior, with its plan in the form of a Greek cross, was transformed into a reading room. The beautiful doorway with its twisted columns and the relief of the crucified Christ on the upper level were not scraped away; they were just walled up behind a new façade.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 199
62 Church of San Juan Bautista | Sixteenth century | Mexico City | Jardín Centenario 8, Coyoacán
Upon their arrival in New Spain in 1527, the Dominicans promptly founded conventos in various regions. The one closest to the capital city –and the order’s third establishment in New Spain– was founded in 1528 in the villa of Coyoacán and dedicated to St. John the Baptist. It is known that the church in existence today began to be built in 1560, designed by Fray Ambrosio de Santa María with three naves, a basilican plan, and a beamed ceiling. These features survived into the twentieth century, until the Franciscan order –into whose control the church passed in 1921– undertook some significant alterations, eliminating these sixteenth-century vestiges in favor of an enormous “ballroom” vault.
The church’s broad façade is set off by its simple classically-inspired doorway: a round arch set within rectangular moldings and flanked by two pairs of slender columns and two pairs of niches. Between the lower cornice and the upper level there are some delicately-carved cartouches with the coat of arms of the Order of Preachers, the monograms of Christ–JHS– and the Virgin Mary –MA–, and in the center the Agnus Dei. The upper level is pierced with a choir window between two pairs of squat columns flanking a niche on either side. The molding that crowns the façade rises in the center to make room for another niche and is decorated with urn-shaped finials. The massive tower on the northwest corner has a square bell chamber with three windows on each side supporting a second one, octagonal in plan, with niches and windows alternating on its eight sides.
The conventual church had a spacious forecourt, still in existence when this photograph was taken, which has since been divided up to form the Jardín Centenario and to make way for a street in front of the church.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 209
63 Churchyard gateway, San Juan Bautista | Sixteenth century | Mexico City | Jardín Centenario 8, Coyoacán
A churchyard or forecourt was always part of the design of the large sixteenth-century conventos. It was not only a place for certain architectural elements, such as the open and processional chapels, but also –and especially in the early years of the evangelization– a space in which large numbers of Indians could be gathered for open-air catechism, while the churches were being built for religious festivals, processions, and theatrical representations. Many of these large, sacred spaces still exist, as for example at Xochimilco and Huejotzingo.
The forecourt was enclosed by a wall, almost always with a design of inverted arches, and generally had three arched gateways, in allusion to the Holy Trinity. The convento of the Dominican order in Coyoacán had such a forecourt. Part of this enormous space has since been invaded by other constructions and part of it forms the Jardín Centenario. The main gateway, with two arches in a sixteenth-century plateresque style, fortunately still exists in situ, along an axis drawn from the church door to the former camino real, or king’s highway, now the Calle de Francisco Sosa. One of the lateral gateways –for there were probably two of them– has also survived, but has been moved from its original location and installed next to the tower.
This lateral gateway is composed of a round arch supported by stone jambs delicately carved with reliefs of vegetal motifs emerging from amphorae on each side. The ornamentation runs in two lines on either side of a type of rope molding common in the sixteenth century. This arch was originally inserted within a large alfiz, or rectangular molding, that has since been destroyed.
The photograph shows the gateway without its alfiz, after it was moved from its original location and reinstalled on the north side of the church, near the tower, which can be glimpsed behind the group of men standing in the archway.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 210
64 Chapel of El Pocito, Villa de Guadalupe | Eighteenth century, 1777-1791 | Mexico City
Among the group of monuments that make up the Basilica of Our Lady of Guadalupe, one remarkable construction is of special significance. This is the chapel known as El Pocito (“the little well”), built to cover with appropriate dignity the spring of water, considered miraculous, which had burst forth from one of the spots where the Guadalupana had appeared. First a well was built, and then a small chapel. In 1777, the architect Francisco Antonio Guerrero y Torres designed this monumental chapel, one of the outstanding examples of Mexican baroque architecture, and certainly its creator’s most important work. Construction was completed in 1791.
The chapel is a thoroughly baroque creation, from its oval plan to its architectural design, apparently inspired by Serlio’s treatise. The interior constitutes a single space, while different materials, colors, and forms are employed on the exterior, accentuating its baroque quality: quarried stone on the doorways, cornices, and window frames; red tezontle on the wall surfaces; and glazed ceramic tiles –of two colors, with geometric patterns– on the domes. The main doorway develops from its convex plan, following the curvature of the wall, and above it a star-shaped window is let into the second story.
Rising from the cornice which runs along the top of the entire building, a simulated drum –for it does not in fact support a dome– is loaded with ornamental elements: star-shaped windows, small columns, and a second cornice of mixtilinear contour and glazed finials. The domes are clad entirely in glazed ceramic tiles and crowned by three lantern lights ornamented with carvings and glazed finials.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 212
65 House of the One Who Killed the Animal | Sixteenth century | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 3 Oriente no. 201
The city of Puebla, founded in 1531, was laid out on a grid plan, in Renaissance fashion, and has contained an important body of civil architecture since the sixteenth century.
Fortunately, several important examples have survived, including the doorway of the Alhóndiga, or grain storehouse, and the palatial mansions constructed in the first century of the viceroyalty, such as the residence of Dean Tomás de la Plaza –with its mannerist doorway and murals based on the Trionfi of Petrarch–, the House of the Little Heads –with its two classical medallions and busts–, and the quaintly-named House of the One Who Killed the Animal, on the street formerly known as Infantes.
Only the beautiful doorway of this important sixteenth-century civil building has survived. The two broad door jambs and the lintel are worked with skillful relief carving. Each of the jambs is supported by a base with three fleurons –as on the doorway of the Palacio in Tlaxcala– and decorated with a hunting scene in which a gentleman, surrounded by vegetation, is leading his dogs. Manuel Toussaint believed the source of these scenes to have been some Flemish tapestry. The large lintel completes the relief decoration of the doorway.
The theme of hunting is associated with a legend current in Puebla: that of the dragon which crosses the main square every day at twilight and which no one dares to kill.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 243
66 Puebla Cathedral | Seventeenth to nineteenth century | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 16 de Septiembre (between 3 Oriente and 5 Oriente)
Puebla had a primitive cathedral with a basilican plan, three naves, and a wooden roof, on which construction had begun at the early date of 1536. The Cathedral now in existence began to be constructed in 1575, according to a design by Francisco de Becerra –the architect of the cathedrals in Lima and Cuzco– which called for three naves and four towers. In 1634 Juan Gómez de Trasmonte, the architect of the Mexico City Cathedral, modified Becerra’s design along the lines of the cathedral in the capital, calling for five naves –a central one, two lateral ones, and two more consisting of chapels–, although shorter than the ones in Mexico. Work on the building was eventually suspended and only concluded, thanks to the efforts of the bishop Juan de Palafox and the architect Pedro García Ferrer, in 1649, when the new cathedral was dedicated.
The Puebla Cathedral, like the one in Mexico City, was built with Chiluca stone, but of the darker variety called berroqueño by Palafox, with white Villerías stone being used for the sculptures, coats of arms, and window frames.
The façade is very different from that of the cathedral in Mexico City, both smaller and lighter, reminiscent of Herrera, and largely in line with Becerra’s original design. It can be distinguished by its two bell towers, with series of two windows along each side. The front doorways correspond to the three naves: the Portada del Perdón, as it is called, leading into the central nave, flanked by the one dedicated to St. Rose of Lima on the Gospel side and the one dedicated to St. Teresa of Ávila on the Epistle side. The façade is decorated with sculptures, cartouches, reliefs of saints, ornamented window frames, and the royal coat of arms, which is set into the curving element that crowns the main doorway section, all in light-colored Villerías stone.
The north doorway, which gives onto the plaza, also turns to account the different shades of stone and is decorated with sculptures of apostles and a pair of medallions containing images of the Spanish monarchs Carlos V and Felipe IV, who reigned during the construction of the Cathedral.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 233
67 Choir, Puebla Cathedral | Seventeenth to nineteenth century | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 16 de Septiembre (between 3 Oriente and 5 Oriente)
The interior of the Puebla Cathedral is a spectacular array of naves, chapels, vaults, arches, columns, and a dome, constructed by the architects Pedro García Ferrer and Agustín Hernández, under the supervision of bishop Juan de Palafox.
The height of the central nave, barrel-vaulted with lunettes, and of the dome over the crossing lends a sense of monumentality to the interior. Coved vaults were built over the lateral naves.
The central nave is interrupted by the choir, as in the Mexico City Cathedral and Spanish Renaissance cathedrals generally. The clergy gathered in this space to sing during the celebration of the mass, accompanied by an organ. Thus, the space is equipped with choir stalls, an enormous lectern, and a monumental organ.
The choir stalls –a work of art in precious inlaid wood, with designs recalling the Moslem-influenced mudéjar style– were created by the master woodworker Pedro Muñoz between 1719 and 1722. The lectern, an important part of the furnishings of the choir, is also of precious wood and is set on an alabaster base. It is crowned by a polychrome wood carving of St. John of Nepomuk.
In the central nave and the section that continues after the crossing there is an enormous baldachin-altar known as a ciprés in Mexico, after the cypress-shaped one designed by Jerónimo de Balbas for the Mexico City Cathedral. It was designed in 1797 by Manuel Tolsá, who drew inspiration from the Altar of Jesus in Rome, and finished in 1818 by José Manzo. It is a tabernacle of undeniable richness, with fine sculptures by Tolsá (the Immaculate Conception), Patiño Ixtolinque, and Zacarías Cora, all in a neoclassical style.
The interior of the Cathedral, originally baroque in style, was transformed in the nineteenth century by José Manzo, who replaced the baroque retables with neoclassical altars and imposed uniformity by means of the new style.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 237
68 Retable of St. Joseph, Santa Rosa de Viterbo | 1727-1752 | Querétaro, Querétaro | Arteaga (at Ezequiel Montes)
Two of the churches that have preserved retables made after 1750 are located in Querétaro: Santa Clara and Santa Rosa de Viterbo. This retable dedicated to St. Joseph is located in the middle of the nave of the Church of Santa Rosa, and corresponds in design and workmanship to the one across from it, dedicated to Our Lady of Guadalupe. It is composed of a single tier, with a predella and crowning decoration.
Although considered by Mexican scholars to belong to the anástilo type of baroque retable (that is, without columns or pilasters), this retable of St. Joseph does in fact have two tentative pilasters, but they do not function as supports, serving only to be saturated with garlands and tiny caryatids. There are small doors on either side of the predella, decorated with reliefs of organic forms; some relics are safeguarded in a glazed box in the middle. The retable has four large medallions, in original wooden frames, containing paintings that depict scenes from the life of St. Joseph: his espousals to Mary, the flight into Egypt, and the adoration of the shepherds. Standing out on the central panel is the glass case containing the image of the saint, of carved and polychrome wood, attired in drapery, and accompanied by two sculptures of angelic figures lifting him up.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 254
69 Camarín de la Virgen, Jesuit College of San Martín and San Francisco Javier | Eighteenth century | Tepozotlán, Estado de México | Plaza Hidalgo 99
One of the most important centers for the instruction of missionaries was established by the Company of Jesus in the village of Tepozotlán. Originally founded as the College of San Martín for indigenous children, by 1585 it was functioning as the College of San Francisco Javier for novices. In this sumptuous building, financed through the bequest of a wealthy merchant, Pedro Ruiz de Ahumada, the Jesuits created some spaces of marked artistic refinement. Such is the case of the camarín of the Virgin Mary, a chamber normally built behind the altar in which an image of the Virgin Mary is kept and venerated. The small chamber serves to safeguard the jewels and garments with which the image is decorated. Octagonal in plan, the chamber provides eight wall sections to be filled with baroque retables of carved and gilded wood. Eight windows, also in gilded frames, let light into the interior. Four angels fly amidst the crossing arches of the vault. The chamber is crowned by a splendid polychrome lantern light with alabaster panes.
Henry Greenwood Peabody’s photograph shows one section of the octagon, framed by two strips of polychrome plaster decorated with the torsos of children bearing baskets. These support the retable of carved and gilded wood, composed of two estípite pilasters flanking a niche, which contains an image, and crowned by putti, designed in the style of Jerónimo de Balbás, holding up a frame. A group of freestanding sculptures and images of the two thieves crucified with Christ have been placed nearby, rather incoherently.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 232
70-71 Interior, nave, and retables, Franciscan Church of Our Lady of the Annunciation | 1664-1698 | Tlaxcala, Tlaxcala | Calzada de San Francisco
The Third Order of the Friars Minor established themselves in Tlaxcala in 1654. Ten years later this chapel was built onto the right side of the main church. It has a plan in the form of a Latin cross, a half-barrel vault, and a dome with an octagonal drum, which creates striking lunettes. The chapel is decorated with fine baroque retables in carved and gilded wood. The principal one, in the center, is the most sumptuous: arranged in two tiers of three vertical sections, or calles, with a crowning arch, it contains magnificent spiraling “Salomonic” columns and sculptures of Tertiary saints such as St. Louis of France, whose image stands in the upper niche, accompanied by St. Francis of Assisi in the center. The lower part contains a remarkable sculpture of St. Francis, depicted on his knees holding three spheres, which symbolize the three Franciscan orders: the regular friars, the order of nuns –the Poor Clares–, and the Third Order.
The photograph shows how the walls of the chapel were completely covered in paintings, in addition to the richly iconographic retables. There is also a pulpit in the chapel and the baptismal font which was used, according to tradition, to baptize the four Tlaxcalan caciques in the presence of Hernán Cortés.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 248 and 249
72 Santa Rosa de Viterbo | 1727-1752 | Querétaro, Querétaro | Arteaga (at Ezequiel Montes)
This church belonged to the convent of Franciscan nuns established in Querétaro under the protection of St. Rose of Viterbo. Its design is typical of a church attached to an establishment of female religious: a single nave parallel to the street, with a double choir in the last bay, and a pair of twin doorways on the streetfront façade. These churches were physically attached to their respective convents, and the cloistered nuns would attend mass only from the other side of the choir screen.
This convent was founded by Juan Caballero y Ocio, a wealthy priest who promoted the establishment of the order in Querétaro. The architectural design is by Ignacio Mariano Casas.
Two colossal buttresses were added to the façade in order to lend support to the bay sustaining the dome. They are the work of Martínez Gudiño, another architect from Querétaro, and their singular design gives a striking character to the building.
The twin doorways are inserted between three other buttresses along the exterior wall and composed of a single section crowned by a niche. The façade is completed by the slender tower with its two bell chambers and curious pinnacle. The dome rests on an octagonal drum. The fame of this church, however, comes from its splendid interior, filled with baroque retables.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 252
73 Chapel of the Rosary of the Church of Santo Domingo | 1745 | Querétaro, Querétaro | Pino Suárez (at Guerrero)
The Order of Preachers arrived late in Querétaro, toward the end of the seventeenth century, in 1693. With the authorization of king Carlos II, and at the expense of Juan Caballero y Ocio, construction began on a Dominican convento during the viceroyalty of the Conde de Gálvez. The establishment was dedicated in 1701.
Like all churches built by the Dominican order, the one in Querétaro has an adjoining chapel dedicated to Our Lady of the Rosary, commemorating the apparition of the Virgin Mary to St. Dominic, when she offered him a rosary as a symbol. The chapel is attached to the north side, next to the tower. The doorway of the chapel has a peculiar composition: framing the entryway, with its paneled jambs and round arch, are two decorative pilasters rising from a pair of urns at the bottom and ending in two pedestals supporting caryatids. A relief of garlands and other vegetal motifs emerges from the keystone of the arch and surrounds the coat of arms of the Dominican order, which has been rubbed out in Peabody’s photograph. The coat of arms has since been restored, but in smaller dimensions.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 261
74 Pulpit and retables, Santa Clara | Convento, 1607-1633; pulpit, 1766; retable, 1740
In 1607 a convent of Poor Clares was founded in Querétaro under the auspices of Diego de Tapia, a nobleman cacique, and with the authorization of the viceroy Marqués de Montesclaros. Nine nuns from the Convento de Santa Clara in Mexico City made the journey to Querétaro to found the new establishment, which would become one of the largest, richest, and most sumptuous in New Spain.
The conventual church, dedicated to St. Clare, contains several extraordinary retables of carved and gilded wood, with a rich profusion of foliage, geometrical forms, and sculptures. They were made around 1760 by Francisco Martínez Gudiño, except for the one dedicated to St. John of Nepomuk, which was executed in 1740 by Pedro de Rojas.
The photograph shows two retables on the Epistle side: the one dedicated to St. John of Nepomuk in the middle bay, and the last one along the nave, dedicated to Our Lady of Sorrows. In the foreground is the famous pulpit built in 1766, also by Martínez Gudiño, which adheres to a pilaster running up the wall; it is decorated with garlands and fruits and crowned with a bulbous sounding board. The retable dedicated to St. John of Nepomuk, which follows the pulpit, is the oldest of the group. Covering the entire wall of the bay, it has four imposing estípite pilasters, of fine proportions in the style of Jerónimo de Balbás, adorned with pomegranate motifs, medallions, putti, garlands, and mirrors. The sculptures include images of St. Bonaventure and St. Thomas of Aquinas, on the lower level; the titular saint in the center, borne up by two angels; and St. Louis of Toulouse and St. John the Evangelist above. The iconography is completed by four paintings depicting scenes from the life of the Bohemian saint. The other retable, glimpsed in the background, is dedicated to Our Lady of Sorrows.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 260 and 257
75 Lateral retable and main altar, Santa Clara | 1760 and 1845 | Querétaro, Querétaro | Madero (at Allende)
The interior of the conventual church attached to the Santa Clara establishment constitutes a homogeneous collection of the retable art of the Mexican baroque, unified in form, style, and quality. The main retable underwent changes, being replaced on three occasions in a little over half a century, but always by works of gilded wood in a baroque style. Following independence, with the changing tastes of the new century, the retable was finally replaced by a “modern” altar in neoclassical style, which broke the harmony of the interior. The new altar was solemnly dedicated on 12 August 1845 amidst the rejoicing of the nuns and the people of Querétaro. This is the one that still remains today, with its plaster columns, Corinthian capitals, and central baldachin, which since 1921 has sheltered an image of the Sacred Heart of Jesus, in accord with the new dedication of the church.
In the bay just before the presbytery, under the dome, there is a pair of matching baroque retables. The one visible in Peabody’s photograph is now dedicated to St. John Vianney, the Curé d’Ars, but it was probably dedicated to St. Joseph at the time, and is congruent in tone with the set of baroque retables made in 1760. The altar and sacrament house, later withdrawn, are still to be seen in the photograph. Sculptures of St. Rose of Viterbo and St. Margaret stand on pedestals. The titular saint looks out from the glass case in the center. The upper section of the retable follows the contours of the church wall and frames a window, and the entire work is surrounded by an undulating border of carved vegetal motifs. A woman prays on her knees in front of the retable.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 260 and 257
77 Parroquia de San Miguel | Eighteenth century; transformed 1880 | San Miguel de Allende, Guanajuato
The present-day parish church of San Miguel de Allende was formerly the colonial church (dating from 1683) of the villa of San Miguel el Grande, founded in 1578. It was rebuilt at the beginning of the eighteenth century, but these primitive structures have since been given a neo-Gothic disguise.
In 1880 the master stonecutter Zeferino Gutiérrez, who had built a church in Dolores and would later be responsible for the great dome of the Church of La Concepción, undertook a daring renovation of the building, reinterpreting the Gothic architecture familiar to him through European prints.
The façade has a central projecting section, divided into two levels. The entryway is enclosed by a pointed arch and framed by two choir windows on the upper level; the rest of the wall surfaces are covered in blind arches, pointed and multifoil. The bell tower has two tiers of long, narrow windows with sharply pointed arches. Towers were added on either side, each one composed of two lower sections, a bell chamber, and a spire. With pronounced verticality, the volumetric design pulls upwards toward the spires and pinnacles, producing a highly singular example of neo-Gothic architecture in Mexico.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 275
78-79 Dome and convento, Church of La Concepción | Church and convento, 1775; dome, 1891 | San Miguel de Allende, Guanajuato
This convent of Conceptionist nuns was founded in the villa of San Miguel on the initiative of doña Josefa Lina de la Canal y Hervás, the daughter and heir of Manuel de la Canal, who had withdrawn into a monastery. Authorized by the royal cédula of king Fernando VI in 1754, construction was entrusted to the architect Francisco Martínez Gudiño, but the convent was not completed until December of 1765. The church is spacious, with a double choir –upper and lower– and a beautiful baroque retable carved in wood, without columns, but with a relief of the Holy Trinity and a sculpture of Our Lady of Loreto. The main altar, which dates from the nineteenth century, is neoclassical and made of stone.
The convent contains a large two-story cloister in a harmonious neoclassical style, with arcades supported by thick pillars.
The monumental dome, added in 1891, is the work of Zeferino Gutiérrez, who created the neo-Gothic façade of the parish church in San Miguel. The dome is a singular construction with a double octagonal drum. Eight of the windows are flanked by a set of columns with Corinthian capitals and sixteen more, enclosed by round arches, have been let into the upper section, which is surrounded by a balustrade. The curved dome rises from a cornice ornamented with stone sculptures of saints and is crowned with a lantern bearing an image of the Immaculate Conception.
The forecourt of the church is surrounded by a gracefully undulating wall of inverted arches.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 277 and 276
80 Our Lady of Guadalupe (now Basilica [registred by Baxter as the Church of San Francisco]) | 1671-1695 | Guanajuato, Guanajuato | Plaza de la Paz
The old parish church of Guanajuato was originally constructed with financing from the mining guild to house an image of the Virgin Mary with the Christ child, a carved wood sculpture which had been a gift, according to tradition, of the Spanish king Felipe II. The church that exists now, across from the Plaza de la Paz, was built in the seventeenth century.
This well-proportioned building has survived almost without modifications, except for the substitution of the baroque retables by neoclassical altars. The right tower has also been altered slightly and the exposed stone of the façade –seen in Peabody’s photograph– has been plastered over.
The broad façade of the church, flanked by two massive towers, projects a markedly horizontal impression. The singular doorway in the center, of pink-toned stone in a sober baroque style, is of three tiers that diminish in size from bottom to top. The entry is enclosed by a round arch and flanked by pairs of fluted pilasters disposed on either side of a niche containing a stone sculpture. A cornice marks the second tier, with its choir window enclosed by an mixtilinear arch and a pair of slender columns and a pilaster on each side. Above a second broken cornice is the third tier, with a niche.
The irregular silhouette of the church is due to the dissimilarity of the towers. The older one on the right is barroco estípite in style, but it has been swallowed up by its base volume, so that only the delicate estípite columns on the upper corners can be appreciated. The left tower is divided into three sections which diminish in size as they ascend. The bottom two are square in plan, with two windows on each side; the upper one is octagonal, pierced by eight windows, and crowned with a lantern.
The image of the Virgin Mary was crowned as queen and patroness of Guanajuato in 1908, and the church was raised to the status of a Minor Basilica in 1957.
P | Photograph 1898 | no. 279
82-83 Sacristy, interior and naves, Church of the Company of Jesus | Guanajuato, Guanajuato | Sol (at Lascuráin de Retana)
The establishment of a Jesuit college had been repeatedly requested by the Real de Minas de Guanajuato before authorization was granted through a royal cédula of 1745. Construction began in 1747, financed by Pedro Bautista Lascuráin and carried out by Felipe de Ureña, according to a design prepared by Fray José de la Cruz.
The exterior has three beautiful doorways on the main façade and another on the side, important examples of the estípite modality of the Mexican baroque. The spacious interior is three stories high, with a central dome. The church, dedicated to the exaltation of the dogma of the Holy Trinity, was completed and inaugurated in 1765, just two years before the Company of Jesus was expelled from the Spanish dominions.
The first photograph shows the sacristy of the Jesuit church, with a neoclassical altar –the magnificent baroque one had been destroyed– and an ivory crucifix set up on a table in the middle. At the back there is a beautiful doorway leading into the college, structured in two tiers and decorated with a mixtilinear medallion.
The second photograph is taken from the middle of the principal nave of the church, looking toward the main altar. As in so many colonial churches, it was originally baroque in style but has been replaced by a neoclassical one. The central nave, its vaults and lunettes pierced by skylights and windows, is separated from the processional naves by sturdy piers supporting round arches. There is a glimpse of the dome erected to replace the original one, which collapsed in 1808.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 281 and 280
84-85 Panoramic view | Taxco, Guerrero
In the sixteenth century, when the first silver deposits were discovered there, the Spaniards established the Real de Minas de Tetelcingo, later known as Old Taxco, since the town that exists today was founded on a nearby site shortly afterwards. Taxco is marked by its mountain landscape: streets winding up and down, houses with red tile roofs and whitewashed walls, balconies with wooden railings, stone fountains, tiny plazas, and in the heart of the town the magnificent Church of Santa Prisca. This was the vision admired and captured by Henry Greenwood Peabody from a nearby hill: the monumental church rises from amidst a cluster of houses.
Don José de la Borda requested authorization of the viceroy of New Spain, Juan Francisco de Güemes y Horcasitas, conde de Revillagigedo, and of the archbishop of Mexico City, Manuel Rubio y Salinas, to construct the new parish church of the mining settlement of Taxco, and permission was granted in 1751. Borda thereafter invested all of his effort and money into the grandiose project, hiring the best architects, artisans, painters, sculptors, and gilders he could find, in the aim of returning to God what he had earned from the mines.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 285
86 Sacristy, Church of Santa Prisca and San Sebastián | 1751-1758 | Taxco, Guerrero | Plaza Borda
In addition to being an architectural jewel, Taxco’s parish church is a treasure house of colonial art, the spiritual expression of the baroque world of New Spain.
Chief among the church’s complementary spaces is the sacristy, a rectangular room located at the back of the presbytery –and the main retable– where the priestly garments and liturgical furnishings were kept. Like the rest of the church, this space was meticulously designed and profusely decorated. It is a Marian space, dedicated, in other words, to exalting the figure the Virgin Mary. The decoration of the sacristy was entrusted to Miguel Cabrera, who executed fourteen large oil paintings depicting scenes from the life of Mary: The Immaculate Conception, The Birth of Mary, The Presentation in the Temple, The Espousals of Joseph and Mary, The Annunciation, The Visitation, The Birth of Jesus, The Circumcision, The Adoration of the Magi, The Presentation of Jesus in the Temple, The Flight to Egypt, Jesus among the Doctors, The Transit of Mary, and The Assumption. They line the walls of the sacristy in their thick frames of carved and gilded wood.
The sacristy was also furnished with a splendid chest of drawers, accompanied by mirrors in gilded frames decorated with foliage, volutes, and cherubs. There was also a handbasin framed by lambrequins and decorative medallions, and a stone font for holy water which constitutes a veritable piece of sculpture.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 288
87 Main altar, Church of Santa Prisca and San Sebastián | 1751-1758 | Taxco, Guerrero | Plaza Borda
The wealthy mine owner José de la Borda, known as the “Phoenix of the miners,” discovered the San Ignacio silver vein in the mines of Tehuilotepec, producing an extraordinary bonanza which lasted nine years and allowed him to construct a remarkable monument, whereby he intended to demonstrate his gratitude to God for the favors bestowed on him. Construction on the parish church of the Real de Minas de Taxco began in 1751, with the collaboration of some eminent artists: Cayetano de Sigüenza created the architectural design, Miguel Cabrera the paintings, and Isidoro Vicente de Balbás the retables. The church was finished in December of 1758 and consecrated the following year “for the glory of God and José de la Borda.” It was placed under the protection of St. Prisca (or Priscilla), a virgin martyred in Rome –patroness of the fury of the lightning bolt–, and St. Sebastián, also a martyr, on 15 March 1759.
The work is an extraordinary combination of architecture, sculpture, retable-making, painting, carving, and gilding. It is baroque in style, with the estípite modality –the very height of modernity at the time– predominating in the interior. The estípite style, named after its characteristic column in the form of an inverted pyramid, was initiated by Jerónimo de Balbás with the Altar of the Kings in the Mexico City Cathedral and then applied to an exterior by Lorenzo Rodríguez in the Sagrario Metropolitano.
The Church of Santa Prisca and San Sebastián is designed in the form of a Latin cross, with a dome over the crossing and a sacristy, chapterhouse, baptistery, and lateral chapel. Remarkable unity has been achieved in its beautiful interior: the carved stone of the pilasters and arches frames the series of retables, which are integrated with the architectural design. Eight retables along the nave and at the crossing, of delicately carved and gilded wood, accompany the main retable at the back of the apse, with its four monumental estípite columns covered in foliage and baroque forms, exalting the patrons of the church: the Immaculate Conception in the center and St. Prisca and St. Sebastian on either side.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 287
89 Tower, Cathedral | 1718, 1728-1752; south tower, 1785 | Zacatecas, Zacatecas | Plaza de Armas (at Miguel Hidalgo)
The church in Zacatecas originated as a small chapel, built in 1718, which was expanded ten years later into a three-nave church, more in accord with the importance of the city. There followed the work of ornamentation, mainly around the doorways, which local artisans loaded with carvings in stone, putti, foliage, volutes, clusters of grapes, acanthus leaves, masks, columns, caryatids, scallop shells, and an inexhaustible repertory of forms and motifs.
Work on the south tower was carried out years later and completed in 1785. Two towers were not initially planned, since one was considered sufficient for a parish church, and the north tower was not in fact added until 1904. The copy was so well-executed, with the same quality in the stonework, that both towers seem to be works of the eighteenth century.
Henry Greenwood Peabody captured this view of the only tower then in existence from the roof of the cathedral. It consists of two bell chambers with two openings on each side. Columns alternate with pilasters around the bell chambers and the structure is crowned by a domed lantern clad in glazed ceramic.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 297
90-91 Conventual church (now Cathedral), The Annunciation of Our Lady | 1529-1552 and seventeenth century | Cuernavaca, Morelos
Founded in 1529, the Franciscan convento in Cuernavaca is one of the oldest in the Provincia del Santo Evangelio, and the fifth one established by the order in New Spain. Its sixteenth-century architecture has been preserved, with some modifications. The monumental church shares the characteristics of the first buildings erected by the Franciscan order in Mexico: a massive, austere volume, powerfully buttressed and crowned with a battlement, a rectangular plan, a barrel vault, and a Porciúncula doorway on the north side (with the date 1552 engraved over it). The interior walls were decorated with scenes of the martyrdom of St. Philip of Jesus and his Franciscan companions at Nagasaki.
The large churchyard opened up next to, rather than in front of, the church, and the important open chapel, or capilla de Indios, with its large arches, functioned as the entrance portico to the convento. The processional chapels, or capillas posas, at the corners of the churchyard have disappeared, but a Chapel of the Third Order dating from the eighteenth century still remains. The seventeenth-century tower is composed of three bell chambers.
When Sylvester Baxter visited the church and Henry Greenwood Peabody photographed it, the churchyard was in use as a cemetery.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 291
92-93 Sanctuary of Our Lady of Guadalupe | 1777-1781 | Guadalajara, Jalisco Alcalde (at Juan Álvarez)
Located in the northern part of Guadalajara, the Sanctuary of Our Lady of Guadalupe was constructed in what was then a sparsely populated area on the orders of the illustrious bishop Antonio Alcalde, who was responsible for other architectural projects, such as the Hospital de Belén. The Sanctuary dates from the last third of the eighteenth century and was raised to the status of parish church in 1782, shortly after its completion.
Its massive, horizontal façade, buttressed by two enormous sets of clustered piers, is distinctive. The section contained between the columns has a window on the upper floor and a mixtilinear pediment. In place of towers, two enormous two-tiered bell gables, containing three bells each, were constructed at either end of the façade. The interior is designed as a Latin cross and contains a fine painting of Our Lady of Guadalupe by José de Alcíbar.
The style of the dome, which was added much later, toward the end of the nineteenth century, clashes with the rest of the church. It had still not been finished when Baxter and Peabody visited the church.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 295
95 Stairway | Palacio de Minería | 1797-1813 | Mexico City | Tacuba (between Callejón de la Condesa and Filomeno Mata)
This monumental edifice is doubtless the finest example of the neoclassical architecture that flourished in the last years of the colonial period. The creation of the Real Seminario de Minería was decreed in 1797 as part of the renovation of the mining industry. Manuel Tolsá, a native of Valencia in Spain and the director of sculpture at the Academy of San Carlos, designed and executed the work between 1797 and 1813. The mining college was moved to its new premises in 1811, when the building was still unfinished. Tolsá’s work is a palace with a strong sense of proportion and symmetry. The horizontal balance of the façade, the harmonious proportions of the elegant patio, and the majestic sweep of the stairway make this building a distinguished exemplar of neoclassical art. Apart from its classrooms, workshops, offices, a refectory, dormitories for the students, and secondary patios, the Palacio contains a beautiful chapel, a ceremonial hall, a library, and a monumental staircase, square in plan, which rises in the very heart of the building, at the back of the central patio. Two flights of stairs lead up to a spacious landing before merging into a single flight which issues onto the corridor on the upper floor. The sober and elegant ornamentation is limited to the carved balustrade, the ornamental urns crowning the posts on the landing, and the columns, arranged in pair or groups of three, which sustain the upper walls of the staircase.
The building has been put to many different uses since Mexican independence. In 1847 it was occupied by American troops; during the Second Empire of Maximilian it was reopened as a college, in the guise of the Imperial Mining School; on the triumph of the Republic, Benito Juárez converted it into an engineering school, before the Ministry of Industry was installed on the premises in 1877; in 1909 and 1910 it housed the Chamber of Deputies; and finally, in 1929, it became the National Engineering School, when the National University gained its autonomy from the federal government.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 219
96-97 College of San Ignacio (or Colegio de las Vizcaínas) | 1734-1767; chapel doorway, 1786 | Mexico City | Vizcaínas (at Mesones, Echeveste, and Aldaco)
Another of the great buildings dedicated to education in eighteenth-century Mexico City was the College of San Ignacio, or Colegio de las Vizcaínas, a school for girls. Founded through the initiative of three merchants of Basque origin (Francisco Echeveste, Ambrosio Meave, and José Aldaco), it was the only secular college of its kind, since female education was normally handled only by the convents of nuns, which had a special annex for girls. The significance of the College of San Ignacio resided in its complete independence of the ecclesiastical authorities.
The building is an important example of the civil architecture of the eighteenth century. Similar in style to San Ildefonso, it has a large façade of marked horizontality, clad mainly in tezontle, which combines harmoniously with the Chiluca stone of the doorways, windows, pilasters, and finials. This elegant façade has three doorways, of which the two at either end are identical in their composition: two tiers and a crowning element, with a linteled entry and a niche on the upper tier containing a sculpture of the Virgin Mary. The central doorway, which leads into the chapel, was designed by the great architect Lorenzo Rodríguez in 1786.
The interior of the college is compartmented by four large patios with arcaded corridors running around them. The monumental chapel, rectangular in plan, is covered by a dome and contains some fine baroque retables of carved and gilded wood.
The building continues today to serve the function for which it was created: the education of girls.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 216
98 Alhóndiga de Granaditas | 1798-1809 | Guanajuato, Guanajuato
This immense stone quadrangle, three stories high and monumental in dimensions, is one of the last works of civil architecture of the colonial period. Built in the center of the mining town of Guanajuato by order of the intendente Juan Antonio de Riaño, it was used as a storehouse for grain, in an attempt to provide for shortages, such as the one that had caused a famine in 1786. Construction was carried out by José del Mazo y Avilés, with royal approval, in accordance with the design of architect Alejandro Durán.
The Alhóndiga was erected on a piece of land known as Granaditas, hence the full name of the granary. Rectangular in plan, it turns around a large central patio, also rectangular. Smooth-shafted columns and a stone balustrade line the corridors surrounding the patio. Neoclassical decoration can be found on the two doorways and in the imposing frieze –with metopes and triglyphs– that runs along all four facades. Because of the inclination of the lot, the façades are of different heights. The main doorway is flanked by columns sustaining an entablature and a curved pediment, with decoration above.
This monument of stone played a special role in the epic of Mexican independence, first as a setting for the events of September 1810 and later when the heads of the insurgent leaders were exhibited in cages at its four corners.
It now houses the Museo Regional de Guanajuato.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 282
100-101 Ecala House (or Casa del Marqués de la Villa del Villar del Águila) | 1780 | Querétaro, Querétaro | Portal de Dolores 6 (on the Plaza de Armas)
With its privileged location on the Plaza de Armas and high quality of carving in stone, this colonial mansion is one of the outstanding works of eighteenth-century civil architecture in the city of Querétaro.
The house is built of pink-toned stone and has a porticoed façade, like its neighbors on the plaza, consisting of four basket-handle arches with moldings, which rest on paneled pilasters. The three balconies on the upper level are framed in stonework and highly elaborate ironwork. A small window has been let into a fourth wall section, to the right of the balconies, and decorated with stone drapery. A line of rope molding, set off with a series of gargoyles, runs across the top of the upper floor, under the cornice and a fringe of glazed ceramic tiles. The façade was created for Tomás López de Ecala by the master stonecutter Cornelio –his last name is unknown– in 1780.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 269
102-103 Residence of the Condes del Valle de Orizaba (or Casa de los Azulejos) | 1737 | Mexico City | Madero 4 (at Callejón de la Condesa)
One of the most original houses of the colonial period in Mexico City is the one known as the Casa de los Azulejos, or House of Tiles. This palatial mansion was built in 1737 by order of the fifth Condesa del Valle de Orizaba, on a lot that had belonged to her family since the sixteenth century. Although the stately mansions of Mexico City were generally characterized by their façades clad in tezontle, the walls of this residence are covered in the glazed ceramic tiles common to the Puebla region.
The two stories of the house are divided on the façades –the principal one on Madero and the lateral one along the Callejón de la Condesa– by a cornice on which the ironwork of the upper balconies rests. The ground floor is higher than the upper floor, owing partly to the addition of the base at the bottom. Stonework can be observed around the windows, on the balconies, on the element crowning the corner, with its niche, on the cornices, along the upper parapet, and of course around the main doorway. The rest of the wall surfaces are completely clad in glazed ceramic tiles from Puebla, arranged in panels or forming fringes with geometrical patterns and vegetal motifs. The color blue predominates, with some panels of yellow and ocher tones in the center of the façade. A stone niche crowns the corner of the building.
The Casa de los Azulejos was the premises of the famous Jockey Club, where the high society of Mexico City gathered, from 1891 to 1914. In 1905, when the Calle 5 de Mayo was opened, the architect Guillermo Heredia reproduced the original façade, with remarkable fidelity, along that side as well. In 1919 the building became part of the business of Sanborns Hermanos.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 226
104-105 Residence of the Condes de Heras y Soto | Eighteenth century | Mexico City | República de Chile 8 (at Donceles)
This baroque mansion, built in the second half of the eighteenth century, is now occupied by the Mexico City Historical Archives. Both the lot and the house changed hands for many generations among various families of the aristocracy in New Spain: bearers of illustrious names such as Riaño, Pimentel and Rincón, Mier and Celis, Escandón and Barrón, all heirs to the title of Condes de Heras y Soto.
It is not known who designed this fine example of Mexico City domestic architecture, but his good taste and mastery of the style of the period are patent. Constructed on a corner, the house has two stories and is given a high degree of unity by its two façades: doors and windows framed in stone; cornices running along the top of each level; and a rusticated parapet crowning the whole. The magnificent doorway is framed in skillfully worked stone. The same fine stonework graces the corner, where the figure of a child is depicted –in the manner of a caryatid– standing on a lion and holding a basket of fruit. The walls are clad in ashlars of tezontle.
When this photograph was taken, the wall surfaces were plastered and painted. The house was then occupied by the Express Fargo Company.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 223
106 Fountain of San Miguel | 1777 | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | Main plaza
When a city was founded in the sixteenth century, the first part to be laid out was the central plaza, from which the principal streets radiated in straight lines. In the middle of this public space, the heart of any settlement, a fountain was built to supply the residents with water, transported by pipes and aqueducts from very far away in some cases. Some fountains built in the first century of the colonial period were of monumental dimensions, such as the one in Chiapa de Corzo; others, though smaller, were carved in stone with great skill, like the one in Tochimilco, Puebla. In the two centuries that followed, many fountains were created in a baroque style, with undulating, whimsical forms, such as the Salto de Agua and Tlaxpana fountains in Mexico City.
The city of Puebla de los Ángeles, founded in 1531, was also laid out on a grid plan and had a central plaza containing a fountain. The original one was probably of simpler lines than the one that exists today.
Made entirely of stone, this fountain has an undulating plan, a basin of regular size, and a curved well curb. The pedestal in the center supports a curved bowl from which a column emerges. Set atop the column is a stone sculpture, in a skillfully executed baroque style, of St. Michael Archangel, to whom the fountain was dedicated in 1777. When water began to be supplied directly to homes by pipe, the fountain no longer served a practical purpose and was moved to a small plaza near the river, where Peabody photographed it. It was later restored to the central plaza.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 245
107 Borda Gardens | 1783 | Cuernavaca, Morelos | Avenida Morelos
Some remarkable gardens and grounds are known to have existed in the colonial period, always adjoining large mansions: the country house of the Condes del Valle de Orizaba, in Ribera de San Cosme; the Alvarado house in Coyoacán; the Fagoaga house in San Ángel; and the great orchard of the Carmelite order, also in San Ángel, with its pool and architectural caprices like the Secret Chamber and the bridges over the Río Chico. But the most famous garden in eighteenth-century Mexico City was the Pensil Mexicano in Tacuba, of which the gateway still exists.
Outside of the capital city, there were the remarkable Borda Gardens in Cuernavaca, a large section of which has survived. They were the property of Manuel de la Borda y Verduzco, son of the “Phoenix of the miners” and patron of the Church of Santa Prisca in Taxco, don José de la Borda. A cultured man, a doctor by the Royal and Pontifical University of Mexico, and a learned botanist and horticulturist, don Manuel collected numerous species of plants and flowers and constructed a botanical garden and greenhouse in 1783.
On a large, sloping lot he constructed an elaborate system of terraces, ramps, miradors, stepped gardens, paths, roundabouts, stairways, pools, and fountains. The space was decorated with the exquisite flora he had collected, famous in its day. The large pool was inaugurated on 4 November 1783, the saint’s day of king Carlos III, to whom it was dedicated. The gardens also received the archbishop of Mexico, Alonso Núnez de Haro, with great pomp.
Henry Greenwood Peabody’s photograph shows the large pool, with its stairs and arcades, on which there floated “two vessels from Xochimilco and a small boat dedicated to the king.” The gardens have been recovered and now form part of the Instituto de Cultura de Morelos.
P | Photograph ca. 1898 | no. 289
127 Santo Domingo | 1720-1736 | Mexico City | Belisario Domínguez (at Brasil)
The Order of Preachers arrived in New Spain in 1526 and established themselves on a piece of land in Mexico City which would later be occupied by the Inquisition. By 1590 they had a church where the present one stands.
In the early eighteenth century the Dominicans built a new church on the same site, beginning construction in 1720 and finishing in 1736. It is not known with certainty who designed this monumental church, with its plan in the form of a Latin cross, lateral chapels, dome, single tower, and splendid baroque doorways, but Pedro de Arrieta and Miguel Custodio Durán are mentioned as likely candidates. The adjoining convento and the Chapel of the Rosary were demolished in 1861 in order to open up the rather purposeless Calle Leandro Valle. Kahlo’s photograph shows this street in the bottom left foreground; the view was probably captured from on top of the Portal de Santo Domingo, or the “Portico of the Evangelists,” as it was also called, because it was where the public scriveners dispatched their business.
The main façade of the church, which recalls the forms of La Profesa and the Basilica of Guadalupe, is of grey quarried stone, with wall surfaces of tezontle. The tower rises from its base volume in two tiers of bell chambers, crowned by a smaller octagonal structure. The beautiful doorway is finely balanced, with the arched entryway and central relief on the second level framed by three columns on either side, the two at the extremes being set back slightly to create an impression of convexity. The stone relief shows St. Dominic receiving the keys and staff of St. Peter and the Epistles of St. Paul. On the level above it there are a pair of unusual windows and a second relief depicting the Assumption of the Virgin Mary.
K | Photograph ca. 1909 | no. 54
128-129 La Profesa | 1714-1720 | Mexico City | Isabel la Católica (at Madero)
This church was constructed between 1714 and 1720 by the Company of Jesus as part of its main establishment in the capital city of the viceroyalty. It is the work of the renowned architect Pedro de Arrieta, who is also credited with the Basilica of Guadalupe. The church is commonly known as La Profesa, taking its name from the Casa Profesa, the Jesuit seminary to which it was attached, which was demolished in order to make way for the Calle 5 de Mayo.
Kahlo’s spectacular panoramic view –which embraces the church entirely, conveying an idea of its monumentality– was taken from the rooftop of the La Esmeralda, the jewelry store that stood on the opposite corner. The second view was taken from a point across the street from the main doorway.
The church is one of the fundamental works of eighteenth-century baroque architecture in Mexico City. It has three naves, with an octagonal drum over the crossing, and a spacious and elegant interior for which Manuel Tolsá created a beautiful neoclassical retable in 1799. The blank wall surfaces on the exterior are of tezontle ashlars. The main doorway, which faces Isabel la Católica, imitates the design of a retable: two tiers with a crowning element, sectioned into three vertical calles divided by deeply-fluted columns and ornamented with reliefs of vegetal motifs. There are niches containing sculptures of saints –St. Gertrude and St. Barbara, St. John the Baptist and King David– and a striking central relief called The Vision of La Storta, which depicts the apparition of Jesus Christ to St. Ignatius of Loyola before the Eternal Father and the heavenly court. A large octagonal window framed with vegetal ornamentation crowns the façade; a coat of arms bearing the stars of the Oratorians was added later above it.
After the expulsion of the Jesuits from all possessions of the Spanish crown, decreed by Carlos III in 1767, La Profesa was handed over to the Oratory of St. Philip Neri.
K | Photograph 1908 | no. 31 and 32
131-132 Façade and interior views toward the choir and the retable, Church of La Enseñanza | 1772-1778 | Mexico City | Donceles, between Argentina and Brasil
One of the jewels of the late baroque in Mexico City is the Church of La Enseñanza, notable both for its architecture and its retables. The church was constructed as part of a convent of nuns and school for girls –hence its name, which means “instruction”– founded by the illustrious Creole María Ignacia Azlor y Echevers, who wished to establish the Company of Mary in New Spain. She obtained royal permission for the foundation in February of 1752.
The convent proper began to be built in 1754 and the church in 1772, after the death of Mother Azlor. The church was finished in 1778 and dedicated to Our Lady of the Pillar. The architect of this important building remains anonymous, though it has been attributed to Francisco Guerrero y Torres.
The singularly narrow doorway-façade, set back and framed by two large rusticated buttresses, is organized in two horizontal sections and a crowning arch, with four pairs of columns designated tritóstilas by scholars of the Mexican baroque, because the lower third of the shaft is accentuated. Particularly striking in the central calle, or vertical section, is the flattened mixtilinear arch, the niche containing a statue of St. Joseph, and the bell-mouthed window framing the tiny sculpture of Our Lady of the Pillar. The iconography of the façade is completed by sculptures of St. Michael Archangel, St. John of Nepomuk, St. Ignatius of Loyola, and St. Benedict, as well as a relief of the Holy Trinity at the top. The result is a baroque work of the modality known as neóstila, so called because the columns are used as supports.
The perfectly integrated interior is decorated with a series of nine retables, paintings, tribunes, and choirs, distributed around a long, narrow, octagonal plan.
Kahlo’s first photograph places us in the extraordinary nave, with a view of the broad three-lobed arch of the sotocoro, the space under the choir loft. The choir loft is concealed from the viewer by the typical choir screen, as the fine wooden reserved galleries are by their latticework. The second photograph reverses the angle: the photographer has placed himself under the choir loft to capture a full view of the interior and the monumental retable. The lateral retables of carved and gilded wood are symmetrically distributed; the wooden galleries can be observed above; on either side of the main altar are the choirs for the nuns; and above them are the large paintings on Marian themes (The Assumption and The Immaculate Conception), executed by Andrés López in 1779. In the center is the baroque retable dedicated to Our Lady of the Pillar. Of the kind known as anástilo –i.e. without supporting columns–, it is carved in wood and covered with gold leaf, resembling a great bell-mouthed arch whose forms, especially in the central calle, seems to withdraw from the viewer. It is ornamented with numerous sculptures of beautiful polychrome wood and sized fabrics.
K | Photograph ca. 1908 | no. 33 and 35
133 Lateral retables, Church of Our Lady of the Pillar (or La Enseñanza) | 1772-1778 | Mexico City | Donceles, between Argentina and Brasil
The interior of the Church of La Enseñanza was designed as a single whole, in terms of both style and iconography, and perfectly integrated with the architecture. On either side of the nave there are smaller retables (also of the style known as barroco anástilo) which fulfill a didactic function. They fill the central section of the nave, from the arch of the choir loft to the presbytery, and consist of a base, a predella, and a single tier above. The two retables on the right side, photographed by Kahlo, are dedicated to the Immaculate Conception (a reliquary-retable, for it contains small niches which safeguard venerated relics of the saint) and to St. John of Nepomuk (the exemplary saint of the priesthood, widely venerated in the eighteenth century), accompanied by St. Cajetan and St. Stanislaus of Kotska, symbols of youthful sanctity, placed in fine pilaster-niches ornamented with volutes and reliefs. The sculpture that can be seen under the bell-glass in the photo was replaced by the image of Our Lady of Salvation that exists today. The pulpit, with its entry door, was set up between the two retables.
K | Photograph ca. 1908 | no. 34
134-135 San Bernardino | Sixteenth century | Xochimilco, on the outskirts of Mexico City | Nuevo León 24
Founded in 1535, San Bernardino de Siena in Xochimilco was one of the first conventos established by the Franciscan order in New Spain. The church, built between 1543 and 1546, was originally roofed with a coffered ceiling, later replaced by a vault. This great monument of the period of evangelization essentially preserves its Renaissance richness. An enormous churchyard, characteristic of the centers of conversion in the sixteenth century, spreads out in front of the church and convento. In the center of the broad façade, crowned with a battlement and a clock turret (added later), there is an important doorway of carved stone, with mannerist and plateresque stylistic features, which was rebuilt in 1590. The interior of the single-nave church preserves a monumental Renaissance retable, one of the few in Mexico that survive from the sixteenth century, with its paintings and sculptures arranged in seven vertical sections, or calles, extending over four tiers.
The convento stands to the west of the church. Access to the two-storey arched cloister is by way of the conventual doorway, or portería, at the front. The tower was built at a later date. On the northern side of the church there is another doorway, known in Franciscan conventos as the Porciúncula, in honor of St. Francis of Assisi and the place where he had the vision of a seraph.
K | Photograph ca. 1910 | no. 72
136 Tower, Church of Santa Catalina | 1750 | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 3 Norte (at 2 Poniente)
Once the first convents of nuns had been established in the capital of New Spain –such as that of the Order of the Most Pure and Limpid Conception, the very first– the principal orders of women religious founded convents in other cities, such as Puebla de los Ángeles. The female branch of the Dominican order established the first convent of nuns in Puebla in 1556. The initial construction was sponsored by Doña María de la Cruz Montenegro and, like all buildings of the colonial period, was modified over the years. The church that exists today, with its groined vaults, dates from the eighteenth century.
All churches belonging to convents of nuns are of a similar type. They have a single nave, parallel to the street, with two identical doorways along the streetfront façade, a bell tower and interior dome, and upper and lower choirs, separated from the nave by a choir screen. The Church of Santa Catalina in Puebla is no exception to the type: its streetfront façade has eight buttresses and a pair of simple doorways. The interior, however, is richly decorated with baroque retables (with both “Salomonic” and estípite columns), glazed ceramic tiles, paintings, and sculptures. The church has a bell tower of a single volume, with a square plan and open bell chamber. The corners of the church are crowned with curved pediments, polygonal elements, and a small dome, but most striking is the singular cladding of glazed ceramic tiles, yellow, blue, and ocher, so characteristic of the Puebla region.
K | Photograph 1910 | no. 149
138 North lateral doorway, Cathedral | 1649; north doorway, 1660 | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 16 de Septiembre (between 3 Oriente and 5 Oriente)
The doorway from the plaza into the crossing, on the north façade of the Puebla Cathedral, was finished in 1660, in a style identical to that of the main doorway and the one on the south side. Its two horizontal tiers are balanced and symmetrical: the door is flanked by columns and the window on the upper level by pilasters. The façade is ornamented with sculptures of the apostles and reliefs and medallions in pale Villerías stone of the kings to which it is dedicated, Carlos V and Felipe II. These contrast with the gray berroqueño stone of the façade itself, which is crowned with a curved pediment and finials.
K | Photograph ca. 1910 | no. 152
139 Cathedral | Sixteenth and seventeenth century (1575-1649) | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 16 de Septiembre (between 3 Oriente and 5 Oriente)
The majesty of the Puebla Cathedral is captured in this spectacular photograph by Guillermo Kahlo, taken from the top of the portico along the western side of the plaza. The balance, verticality, and purity of the photographic composition are penetrated by the Renaissance classicism and architectural unity of the building itself, which the photographer understood.
Construction on the Cathedral in Puebla began in the sixteenth century and was concluded thanks to the efforts of bishop Juan de Palafox y Mendoza. The original design was adapted by Juan Gómez de Trasmonte (the chief building craftsman, or maestro mayor, of the Mexico City Cathedral) and the work was carried out by Pedro García Ferrer. The Cathedral was consecrated on 18 April 1649, although the exterior doorways were still unfinished. The grandiose towers –of which there were to be four, (one at each corner) in Francisco Becerra’s original design– rise in two well-proportioned sections of simple lines. The doorways on the main façade are framed by the towers themselves and by two thick buttresses, forming three spaces for the Portada del Perdón (in the center) and the two doorways on either side, which lead into the processional aisles and are dedicated to St. Teresa of Ávila and St. Rose of Lima.
The photograph encompasses the entire exterior of the Cathedral, viewed from a diagonal perspective –from the northwest– and from above, taking in the main façade, the towers, the north façade and doorway, the dome, and the enclosed forecourt.
K | Photograph ca. 1911 | no. 151
141 Lateral nave, Cathedral | Sixteenth and seventeenth century (1575-1649) | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 16 de Septiembre (between 3 Oriente and 5 Oriente)
The interior of the Puebla Cathedral is divided into five naves: the central nave, which is the highest; two lateral (or processional) naves, designated as the Gospel side and the Epistle side; and two more which are compartmented into seven chapels each. This plan corresponds to the design of Renaissance churches in Spain, which also contained a large choir along the central nave. The monumental choir of the Puebla Cathedral occupies three bays of the central nave and is furnished with choir stalls, an organ, and a choir screen.
The processional naves were used for special liturgical ceremonies and provide the natural route for someone wishing to visit the interior, from the entrance to the Altar of the Kings. Kahlo’s photograph reveals the spaciousness not only of the processional nave but also of the central one, offering a clear view of the vaults and lunettes above and of the remarkable space occupied by the choir. The white and gold decoration of the vaults, which can still be admired today, was created by Francisco Manzo in the nineteenth century.
K | Photograph ca. 1911 | no. 155
142 Capilla del Ochavo, or Chapel of the Holy Spirit, Cathedral | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | Access by way of 3 Oriente (at 2 Sur)
The Chapel of the Holy Spirit is located at the southeastern end of the Puebla Cathedral, that is, to the right of the chevet. It is also called the Chapel of the Octagon (Ochavo) because of its eight-sided plan. The extremely rich ornamentation, executed during the 1680s, consists of delicate, small-format retables set against trapezoidal walls with free-standing furnishings and paintings, generally small canvases or copper plates in frames of carved and gilded wood.
The reliquary-retable shown in Kahlo’s photograph is a fine example of the decorative richness of the chapel.
K | Photograph ca. 1910 | no. 158
143 Capilla del Rosario, Church of Santo Domingo | 1690 | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | 5 de Mayo (at 4 Poniente)
The Order of Preachers arrived in Puebla in 1534, but did not have a formal establishment there until 1571. The church that survives today –nothing else being left of the convento– dates from the mid-seventeenth century.
Next to the Church of Santo Domingo a sumptuous chapel was built and dedicated to Our Lady of the Rosary, whose devotion was fostered by the Dominicans. Inaugurated on 16 April 1690, the Capilla del Rosario in Puebla was the first chapel that the order built for its patroness and gave rise to a book about it entitled The Eighth Wonder of the World. Such was the impression made by this baroque jewel that its influence on ornamentation can be traced through the rest of the state of Puebla and into Oaxaca. It marks the zenith of an exuberant baroque style in polychrome and gilded stucco, in which the interlacing geometrical, vegetal, and anthropomorphic motifs cover every inch of available surface. This eminently decorative style was applied to the entire vault, the dome, the pendentives, the pilasters, and the arches. It is even didactic, imparting a theological lesson. Faith, Hope, and Charity are represented on the vault, while on the dome the exaltation of the Holy Spirit is depicted as a dove accompanied by beautiful sculptures of virgin saints paying court to the Virgin Mary, all intertwined with cherubs, scrollwork, volutes, masks, and angels, overflowing with color and symbolism. In the center of the chapel there is a majestic tabernacle with an image of Our Lady of the Rosary on display behind glass panes.
The photograph, taken from the choir loft, offers a close view of the vaults but also captures the decorative detail of the chapel as a whole.
K | Photograph ca. 1911 | no. 164
144 Capilla de los Dolores, Church of Guadalupe | 1694-1722 | Puebla de los Ángeles, Puebla | Reforma 900
This church, dedicated to Our Lady of Guadalupe, was built outside of the perimeter of the old city on the initiative of the master ironworker and firework-maker Juan Alonso Martínez. Construction began toward the end of the seventeenth century and was completed in 1722.
The church is one of Puebla’s most characteristic monuments because of its use of colorful glazed ceramic tiles, typical of the region, combined with brickwork and stucco decoration. This mixture of the Talavera and stuccowork varieties of the Puebla baroque make for a lively treatment of the façade, the dome, and the interior of the lateral chapel.
On the south side of the Church of Guadalupe there is a chapel with a beautiful dome and profuse exterior decoration on the mixtilinear windows, the columns, and the frieze. The interior of this Chapel of the Sorrows, as it is called, is decorated with a busy profusion of vegetal motifs in stucco relief. It has lost its baroque retable, which has been replaced by an incongruous neoclassical altar.
K | Photograph ca. 1911 | no. 143
146-147 Interior and exterior vault, Capilla Real (or Chapel of San José de los Naturales) | ca. 1580 and 1608 | Cholula, Puebla
The Franciscans established themselves in Cholula in 1538, but did not begin to build their convento, dedicated to St. Gabriel, until 1549. The convento was a large one, with a forecourt capable of containing large congregations and equipped with processional chapels, or capillas posas, and of course a larger open chapel, or capilla de indios.
The Capilla Real has an enormous rectangular plan of nine naves: seven central ones and two lateral ones. The numerous roof vaults are supported by octagonal pillars, creating the impression of a large mosque, very striking for its time. The vaults collapsed in 1581, shortly after being constructed, and were rebuilt in 1608. This impressive interior is covered by 63 small vaults and five domes. The altar is a neoclassical tabernacle in the central nave. Originally it was open toward the churchyard through an arcade, but this has since been walled up.
Kahlo’s photograph captures the spectacular panorama of the domes and vaults of the Convento de San Gabriel from above, with a view of the Great Pyramid mound in the distance and the Church of Our Lady of Remedies on the summit. Some of the rounded vaults are crowned by octagonal lantern lights, through which the interior of the chapel is illuminated. One of the higher domes is also visible, clad in the traditional glazed ceramic tile of Puebla.
K | Photograph 1911 | no. 130 and 132
148-149 | 1594 to the nineteenth century | Cholula, Puebla
The Church of Our Lady of Remedies was erected on an enormous pyramidal structure: the Great Pyramid of Cholula, which is the cumulative result of successive stages of construction dating from 200 B.C. to 800 A.D. The colossal pyramid (400 meters across and 65 meters high) was at the center of one of the most important pre-Hispanic communities in the Mexican highlands, and was already concealed when Hernán Cortés carried out his infamous massacre there.
Fully aware that the mound contained something of importance in its entrails, the Spanish constructed a small church dedicated to Our Lady of Remedies on it in 1594. The church was modified and expanded over time, and finally rebuilt entirely after an earthquake in 1868.
Designed in the form of a Latin cross, the church has two unassuming towers and a dome clad in glazed ceramic tiles. There is also a chamber dedicated to Our Lady of Remedies behind the main altar, at the back of the apse.
K | Photograph 1911 | no. 126
150-151 Tower and bell gable, interior and retable, and dome, Church of San Francisco | ca. 1740 | San Francisco Acatepec, Puebla
The Church of San Francisco in Acatepec is one of the most spectacular baroque works in the state of Puebla, and doubtless the finest example of the Talavera style. It seems to have been constructed in the first third of the eighteenth century. The beautiful façade, including the shafts of the columns and estípites, is completely covered in glazed ceramic tiles, fashioned in pieces of the exact size required by the skillful artisans of Puebla.
The church has a single tower and a bell gable, both in the style of the rest of the exterior, with the exuberant color of their yellow, blue, and orange tiles, the richly flowing movement of the “Salomonic” columns, and the small ceramic finials.
The interior is also extraordinary. In the tradition of Mexican baroque stucco decoration, the vaults have been decorated with interlacing patterns, vegetal motifs, and cherubim, all in a markedly popular style, with images of the evangelists in the lunettes formed by the arches of the crossing. The transept arms contain retables –one on either side– with “Salomonic” columns and figures of saints, not of wood, as was usual in the colonial period, but of plaster.
A dome with an octagonal drum covers the crossing. Four sculptures of saints in polychrome plaster are placed in the pendentives. Windows have been let into four sections of the drum, alternating with surfaces covered in plaster decoration, and a star with cherubim is represented in the center.
K | Photograph 1912 | no. 137 and 139
152-153 Interior, Capilla del Rosario, Church of Santo Domingo | Convento, 1570-1610; chapel, end of the seventeenth century | Oaxaca, Oaxaca | Macedonio Alcalá
The Convento de Santo Domingo in the city of Oaxaca was the most important and the most monumental architectural and artistic complex of the province of New Antequera. It was constructed by the Dominican order between 1570 and 1610, though the retables and ornamentation are of later date. With its massive volumes of green-gold stone, the convento is noteworthy for its beautiful rib-vaulted cloister and the balanced doorway and imposing towers of its conventual church, but above all for the baroque stucco decoration of the interior.
In the Dominican tradition, a chapel dedicated to Our Lady of the Rosary, the patroness of the order, was built alongside the church. The date of the primitive chapel is unknown, but toward the end of the seventeenth century it was replaced by one of mother-of-pearl. The chapel, in the form of a Latin cross with a short crossing, is attached to the south side of the church and decorated with polychrome and gilded stucco. There are representations of the four evangelists in the pendentives of the vault and in the center of the dome a beautiful relief of Our Lady of the Rosary protecting the Order of Preachers with her mantle. She is accompanied in a second circle by the apostles, surrounded by putti, scallop shells, and flowers.
Kahlo’s photograph is a partial testimony to when the original retables were destroyed: the wall of the presbytery is visible without its magnificent baroque retable. All that can be seen is a tabernacle and some oddly-placed sculptures. The present-day retable was reconstructed in the middle of the twentieth century along the lines of the original one.
K | Photograph 1918 | no. 118 and 123
154-155 Interior, Church of Santo Domingo | Convento, 1570-1610 | Oaxaca, Oaxaca | Macedonio Alcalá
The interior of the Dominican church in Oaxaca is doubtless the highest expression of polychrome and gilded stucco relief and sculpture in the baroque of New Antequera. The rich tradition of stuccowork began in another Dominican establishment, the Church of Santo Domingo in the city of Puebla, from where it was implanted with equal success and mastery in the region of Oaxaca.
The vault under the broad choir loft of the church displays a remarkable iconographic program, offered to the catechumen as a vision of the Dominican Order. An extensively ramified family tree displays the origins of the Guzmán family, into which the founder of the order was born. Images of members of the family, related to kings of Spain and Portugal, emerge from out of vegetal motifs, all in gilded or polychrome stucco, and culminate in the figure of the Virgin Mary holding the Christ child. The decoration descends to the arches and pilasters of the lateral chapels, which contain larger sculptures of the Dominican founders of the convento.
Another splendid detail is the vault of the choir loft itself, whose steep rises contain numerous medallions occupied by images of members of the order.
No space or wall surface in the interior of the church, designed in the form of a Latin cross with lateral chapels, was left unused by the skillful artisans who created the baroque decoration.
The view taken by Guillermo Kahlo –from beneath the choir loft, capturing the lateral chapels, the vault of the central nave, the dome of the crossing, and even the vault of the presbytery– fully reflects the exuberance of the Mexican baroque. It also adds an historical testimony: the altar which for a time replaced the destroyed retable. This has been substituted in turn by a twentieth-century copy of the original retable.
K | Photograph 1918 | no. 109
156 Handbasin, Sacristy of the Church of San Francisco Javier | Eighteenth century | Tepotzotlán, Estado de México
The great monument built by the Jesuits in Topozotlán as a seminary remains the crowning jewel of baroque art created by the Company of Jesus in New Spain. It contains countless details that might easily go unnoticed.
Next to the Church of San Francisco Javier is the sacristy, where the liturgical garments and ornaments are kept, and the priest who is to celebrate mass prepares himself and washes his hands. This handbasin has been worked with the intricate ornamental detail characteristic of baroque art: curved and broken forms, volutes, angels in relief, floral bouquets, Marian symbols –the Tower and the Mirror– carried by putti, female figures representing Faith and Hope, and the letters JHS, the symbol of Christ and the Company of Jesus, all arranged around a great scallop shell opening up above a basin of mixtilinear contours. The entire piece functions at the same time as the base of a pedestal on which a small sculpture of the Virgin Mary stands. This elaborate ornament must have been made in the last stages of the baroque, toward the middle of the eighteenth century.
K | Photograph ca. 1920 | no. 86
158-159 Cloister, College of San Ignacio de Loyola | Eighteenth century | Querétaro, Querétaro
The Company of Jesus arrived in Querétaro around 1625, at the express request of the mayor (alcalde mayor) Diego Barrientos y Rivera, who wanted the Jesuits to take charge of education in the city. Their college was established and placed under the protection of St. Ignatius of Loyola, the founder of the order. Toward the end of the seventeenth century, the local benefactor Juan Caballero y Ocio financed the construction of the Seminary of San Francisco Javier, which was annexed to the college.
The college contains three interior cloisters, the last one built in the mid-eighteenth century. This beautiful patio is surrounded on all four sides by arched colonnades of pink quarried stone. Each side contains five round arches; the spandrels are decorated with vegetal motifs and tiny angelic figures, and putti bearing bunches of grapes or palm leaves are placed over the keystones. Rectangular windows have been let into the walls on the second level. A fine octagonal-shaped fountain occupies the center of the patio.
When the Jesuits were expelled from New Spain, their properties were put to a variety of uses. When Guillermo Kahlo photographed the building, this cloister was in the care of the Church of the Sagrario. It now forms part of the University of Querétaro.
K | Photograph 1912 | no. 174
161 Main doorway, Cathedral | 1670-1718 | San Luis Potosí, San Luis Potosí
The antecedent of this Cathedral was the former parish church, which was demolished in 1670 to make way for the new construction, concluded in 1718 and dedicated to St. Louis of France. The Cathedral has three naves, three doorways, and a dome over the crossing. The strikingly innovative main façade is sectioned vertically along seven planes, making it possible to open niches for sculptures of all twelve apostles. The four pairs of columns, distributed over two tiers, have shafts carved with vegetal motifs on their lower thirds and the spiraling “Salomonic” patterns on their two upper thirds. The doorway in crowned by a three-lobed arch; above it the window of the choir opens up.
It would seem the sculptures of the apostles were originally of crude workmanship, so the bishop Montes de Oca had them replaced by excellent Italian marbles, copies of Bernini’s sculptures in the Church of St. John Lateran in Rome. These figures of the apostles lend great movement to the façade by the contrast of their white stone with the sepia quarried stone of the building. A balustrade runs across the top of the façade, which is crowned by a small turret –a newer, rather unsuccessful addition– in which a sculpture of the Virgin Mary, the present-day patroness of the Cathedral, has been placed.
The two towers, one of them dating from the colonial period and the other an exact copy constructed in 1910, continue the “Salomonic” movement of the doorway, with engaged columns of similar style ornamenting the three levels of bell chambers.
The parish church was raised to the status of cathedral in the nineteenth century. Its interior was transformed in the same period, the baroque retables of gilded wood being replaced by cold neoclassical altars. The enormous candelabra of solid silver and gold candlesticks, donated by the miners of the Cerro de San Pedro in 1739, was melted down to pay for the principal neoclassical altar.
K | Photograph ca. 1912 | no. 189
162-163 Cathedral and Plaza de Armas | 1571-1618 and nineteenth century | Guadalajara, Jalisco | Hidalgo, 16 de Septiembre, and Morelos
The Cathedral in New Galicia was designed in accordance with Renaissance canons, as can be observed especially in its front doorways and its interior. Construction of the building was ordered by the Spanish king Felipe II and the cornerstone was laid by the bishop Ayala in 1571. The great contrast in the building is due to the work undertaken in the nineteenth century, especially the addition of the disproportionate towers to replace the original ones destroyed by an earthquake in 1818.
This photograph shows the Cathedral in profile along its southern side, to which the Sagrario, designed by José Gutiérrez, was annexed in 1804 on the recommendation of Manuel Tolsá. The neoclassical pediment of the Sagrario’s lateral façade and its magnificent dome can be made out in the photograph. On the corner to the east the seventeenth-century gallery is visible, with its upper-floor arcade, as well as part of the cathedral building.
In the Plaza de Armas, remodeled for the centennial celebrations, there is a glimpse of the beautiful French pavilion, in art nouveau style, which was later replaced by a less interesting work. On the right is the Palacio de Gobierno of Guadalajara, a fine example of the civil architecture of the last years of the colonial period.
K | Photograph 1913 | no. 104
165 Cornice, Teatro Nacional (now Palacio de Bellas Artes) | 1905-1934 | Mexico City | Juárez (at Eje Central)
At the beginning of the twentieth century Mexico City was marching toward modernity, especially in the areas of architecture and urban planning. French influences had replaced the old colonial walls of tezontle and Chiluca stone with European marble and granite. The Porfirian elite undertook the task of redesigning the capital city, and constructed some of its most representative buildings.
One of these buildings is particularly outstanding: the new National Theater. “New” because the former Teatro de Santa Anna (originally “Imperial,” then “Nacional”), designed by the architect Lorenzo de la Hidalga in 1844, had been demolished in 1901. The government of Porfirio Díaz commissioned the Italian architect Adamo Boari to undertake the majestic project, construction of which began in 1904 on the site formerly occupied by the Convento de Santa Isabel. Boari opted for the art nouveau style in vogue in Europe at the time, but with the original idea of combining classical forms with Mexican motifs such as masks, eagle warriors, serpents, coyotes, and native vegetation. Boari surrounded himself with important artists who contributed to the artistic value of the project: the Hungarian Géza Maróti designed the bronze sculptural group crowning the dome, the stained glass ceiling Apollo and the Muses, and the glass curtain decorated with a depiction of The Volcanoes; Leonardo Bisolfi executed the sculptures (Music and Inspiration) and the central high relief (Harmony) of the main façade; Alessandro Mazzucotelli designed the iron grille; and the Catalan Agustí Querol created the Pegasus figures which would crown the volume containing the stage (they are now in the plaza in front of the Palace). The walls were built with Carrera marble and the main façade, with its striking tympanum, was ornamented with extraordinary sculptural groups perched precariously on the curves of the arching cornice: Music (on the left) and Inspiration (on the right).
Commissioned by Finance Minister José Yves Limantour to compile a photographic record of the progress of Porfirian Mexico, Kahlo followed the construction of the new National Theater from the laying of its foundations and the assembling of its iron structure to the placement of the sculptures. Kahlo captured this extraordinary view of 1911 from a high point on the scaffolding erected to work on the façade. In May of the same year the government of Porfirio Díaz fell, and the Palace remained unfinished.
K | Photograph 1911 | no. 21
166-167 Upper lobby of the amphitheater of the National Preparatory School | 1906 | Mexico City | Justo Sierra
The College of San Ildefonso, a Jesuit institution founded in the sixteenth century, was transformed in 1867, following the triumph of the Republic, into the National Preparatory School. Thus, the colonial building with its monumental patios and corridors, constructed between 1712 and 1740, continued to serve its educational vocation. Directed by the illustrious Gabino Barreda, the National Preparatory School was the basis on which Justo Sierra founded the new University in 1910.
Owing to the large number of students, the old building needed to be expanded, and a southern annex –along what is now Justo Sierra– was constructed in a neocolonial style, in conformity with the original structure. The work was entrusted to Samuel Chávez, who also designed the Simón Bolívar Amphitheater, where in 1922 Diego Rivera would paint his first great mural, The Creation.
Kahlo’s photograph shows the lobby that opens up under the upper seating at the back of the amphitheater, illuminated by the large windows looking onto Justo Sierra.
K | Photograph 1911 | no. 57
168-169 Palacio Municipal | 1720-1724, 1906-1910, 1921 | Mexico City | Plaza de la Constitución (between 5 de Febrero and 20 de Noviembre)
The Mexico City ayuntamiento, or municipal government, had been established since early colonial times in the place still occupied today by the government of the Distrito Federal. By 1582, the original building already contained a jail and an area in which to store grain. Still preserved today is the arched portico of the building rebuilt between 1720 and 1724, which continued to function until 1910.
The old building was remodeled as part of the large-scale renovation of the city’s architecture undertaken by the government of Porfirio Díaz to celebrate the centenary of Mexican independence. The task was entrusted to the architect Manuel Gorospe, who made use of the portico and part of the second floor, adding one more level and increasing the height of the turrets. He maintained the construction’s colonial style, in harmony with the other buildings in the zone. The second and third floors are divided horizontally by cornices supporting balconies and the façade is sectioned vertically by rusticated pilasters and caryatids, which frame the numerous windows. Two high turrets rise up in the manner of lookouts on either side. The building remained thus until 1921, when yet another level was added to maintain uniformity with the other buildings surrounding the Zócalo, since another story was also added to the Palacio Nacional at the time.
Kahlo’s photograph is of particular historical interest because it shows the remodeling carried out in 1910 on the occasion of the centenary celebrations.
K | Photograph ca. 1910 | no. 40
170 The Mutual Life Insurance Company (now Banco de México) | 1903-1905 | Mexico City | 5 de Mayo (at Eje Central)
One of the characteristic buildings of early-twentieth-century Mexico was designed by the New York architects De Lemos and Cordes for the Mutual Life Insurance Company of the same city, which had been attracted to the Mexican capital by the prosperity of the Porfirian period. Construction was entrusted to Gonzalo Garita and A. R. Whitney, who carried out the task between 1903 and 1905. One of the first buildings constructed with an iron structure, it was clad in pink quarried stone from the state of Hidalgo. The ground floor façade shows robust rustication in the Italian style, while the main front along 5 de Mayo is sectioned by four colossal columns embracing three floors of the construction. Large windows were let in between the columns and ten caryatids set up as ornaments.
Carlos Obregón Santacilia renovated the building in 1925 so that it could serve as the headquarters of the Bank of Mexico, doubling it in size on the north side. The caryatids around the main doorway were removed and in their place the two seated sculptures by the artist Manuel Centurión were installed. The symmetrical façades have five levels, with windows and balconies; a thick cornice runs atop the fourth level, and the fifth is surrounded by a balustrade ornamented with moldings and lion’s heads. The spacious lobby opened up inside is an important example of Mexican art nouveau. The building was inaugurated as the Bank of Mexico on 12 October 1927.
K | Photograph ca. 1920 | no. 24
171 Banco de Londres y México (now the Supreme Court of Justice) | 1912-1913 | Mexico City | 16 de Septiembre (at Bolívar)
This monumental building in an eclectic style was built toward the end of the Porfiriato for the Banco de Londres y México, one of the solidest financial institutions of the period. Designed by the engineer Miguel Ángel de Quevedo, it was begun in 1912 and finished on 3 February 1913, just a few days before the Tragic Ten Days, which marked the outbreak of the violent stage of the Mexican Revolution.
Thanks to its corner location, this four-story construction has two important façades: along 16 de Septiembre and along Bolívar. The ground floor consists of a thickly rusticated base beneath a pattern of horizontal grooves; windows have been let in under basket arches, protected by elaborated ironwork. Two broad cornices run along the façade, dividing the building into three horizontal sections. The central section –contained between the two cornices– is occupied by the second and third floors. The ornamentation is concentrated along the mixtilinear cornice, along the parapet with its balustrades, and in the monumental Ionic columns, which section the façade vertically and frame the balconies. The windows of the upper floor, crowned with lintels and round arches, are richly decorated with caryatids. The balustrade that runs along the top of the construction is interrupted by broken-scroll and curved pediments. At the corner, a high relief sculpture of three anthropomorphic figures is flanked by columns and crowned with a curved pediment.
The building now contains two more floors, added according to the design of the architect Enrique de la Mora y Palomar, and houses a department of the Mexican Supreme Court.
K | Photograph ca. 1912 | no. 27
172-173 La Castañeda Insane Asylum | 1908-1910 | Mixcoac, then on the outskirts of Mexico City
Between 1900 and 1910 some of the most significant and emblematic buildings of the Porfiriato were built in Mexico City, as part of a grand plan of architectural modernization. These included the Chamber of Deputies, the Post Office and Ministry of Communications buildings, Lecumberri Prison, the National Theater, the Museum of Geology, the Chopo pavilion, the Children’s Hospital, and the General Insane Asylum. This last construction was designed and erected by the Compañía Mexicana de Construcciones e Ingeniería, under the direction of the military engineer Porfirio Díaz –the Mexican president’s son– in partnership with engineers Ignacio de la Barra and Carlos Noriega.
Ever since the colonial period, there had been hospitals run by religious for the mentally ill, but there was no institution in the modern Mexico of the early twentieth century for this purpose. In addition to the hospital, the program of this large building included dormitories, kitchen facilities, refectories, consulting rooms, and an administrative area. The site chosen was in Mixcoac, at the time a village on the outskirts of Mexico City.
In front of the central two-story volume, with its rectangular plan, was a monumental stairway leading up to the entrance portico. The ground-floor windows had round arches; those on the upper floor were crowned by lintels and triangular pediments. The outer wall sections were rusticated in the Italian style and above the portico, on the second floor, there was a large balcony. The lateral façades were composed of a rhythmical series of doors and windows.
The hospital was inaugurated in 1910 and functioned for more than half a century. It was demolished in the 1960s to make way for a housing development. Part of the main building was disassembled and reconstructed on a site near the Popocatépetl volcano.
K | Photograph 1912 | no. 69
174-175 Rosendo Rivera House (or Casa de La Marquesa) | 1756 | Querétaro, Querétaro | Madero 41
The city of Querétaro is rich in civil architecture, thanks to the stately mansions built there by members of the colonial nobility. One of the most outstanding of these is the Casa de la Marquesa, named by Kahlo after its owner in 1919, when the photograph was taken. The “House of the Marquise” is itself an inaccurate designation: though named in honor of the wife of the Marqués de la Villa del Villar del Águila, who ordered the Querétaro aqueduct to be constructed, the house was not built for her.
In fact, the mansion was built –in a highly original baroque style– by a certain Cornelio, a master builder of mid-eighteenth century Querétaro, at the request of Francisco Antonio Alday, the executor of the abovementioned nobleman’s estate. The two-story construction has a façade ornamented with fine stonework around the doors and windows, the jambs of which are prolonged up to the cornice. The interior is articulated around a central patio with mixtilinear arches unsupported by columns, which give this unusual example of Mexican baroque its special character.
The building is currently in use as a luxury hotel.
K | Photograph 1912 | no. 171
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Originally from Missouri, Henry Greenwood Peabody (1855-1951) was educated at Dartmouth College. In the 1880s he consolidated his reputation as a photographer with the publication of collective portfolios (Photograph Album of Southwestern Canyonlands and Indian Communities) and individuals ones (Western Female Seminary, Oxford, Ohio: A Collection of Twelve Views). He was also known for his ambitious series of Representative American Yachts, a collection of one hundred images of sailing vessels.
The Bostonian Sylvester Baxter (1850-1927) was a prominent journalist turned expert in urban planning who became involved in the conservation of national heritage. In 1899 he invited Peabody to Mexico to explore together some of the country's principal towns, with a view to making an inventory of its rich legacy of Spanish colonial architecture. In 1901 the result of their collaboration was published as Spanish-Colonial Architecture in Mexico, accompanied by nine portfolios containing a total of 150 photographs taken by Peabody and annotated on the back by Baxter.
Peabody’s perspective was in a way that of Baxter himself, who had set the exhaustive itinerary of the photographer during their time in Mexico. The visual and aesthetic focus was not on isolating the architecture in order to enhance its beauty but rather on illustrating the state of neglect in which these magnificent monuments of the colonial period had fallen. Peabody’s art portrayed with the precision of an anthropologist what Baxter pointed out to him: fagades, patios, churchyards, domes, and bell towers. The result was much more than an inventory: it was the portrait of an age.
Carl Wilhlem Kahlo Kaufmann (1871-1941) was born in Pforzheim, Germany, into a Lutheran family of soldiers, artisans, and jewelers. Before he was nineteen years old he had disembarked in the port of Veracruz in quest of a new life, and at the age of twenty-three he was granted Mexican nationality. In 1893 he married María Cárdena Espino, who died in 1897, leaving him with two daughters. In 1898 he married Matilde Calderón, who bore him four more daughters, including the famous painter Frida Kahlo.
By 1901 Guillermo Kahlo had earned a reputation as a photographer specializing in “Buildings, Interiors, Factories, Machinery, etc.” In 1904, during the second phase of the Porfirian period, he began the great project of his career: José Yves Limantour, the Minister of Finance, commissioned him to document the properties belonging to the federal government, especially its churches. The result was more than 1,300 glass plates, most of them in a large format of 11 x 14 inches. In order to assemble the material, Kahlo traveled to thirteen states and recorded constructions in at least twenty-seven different towns and villages.
By a parsimonious handling of light, Kahlo guides the viewer along the planes that constitute architectural space. His fascination with constructive details, especially domes and vaults, led him on occasion to create almost abstract images, heirs to the technological interests of photographers such as Auguste-Hippolyte Collard and Louis-Émile Durandelle. The architecture assumes complete supremacy, at the expense even of the people who inhabit the places. The photographs are iconic pieces immersed in a timeless atmosphere, documents that celebrate the permanence of the monument and possess a still, silent life of their own.
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